

Public Document Pack

Date: 19 August 2015
Ask For: Emily Kennedy
Direct Dial: (01843) 577046
Email: emily.kennedy@thanet.gov.uk



CONSTITUTIONAL REVIEW WORKING PARTY

27 AUGUST 2015

A meeting of the Constitutional Review Working Party will be held at **10.00 am on Thursday, 27 August 2015** in the Rossetti Room, Cecil Street, Margate, Kent.

Membership:

Independent Members: Dr Jonathan Sexton (Chairman) and Mrs Janet Bacon (Vice-Chairman);

Councillors: Elenor, Hayton, Martin and Campbell

A G E N D A

Item

Subject

No

1. **APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE**

2. **DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST**

To receive any declarations of interest. Members are advised to consider the extract from the Standard Board Code of Conduct for Members, which forms part of the Declaration of Interest Form at the back of this Agenda. If a Member declares an interest, they should complete that Form and hand it to the Officer clerking the meeting.

3. **MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING** (Pages 1 - 2)

To approve the Minutes of the Constitutional Review Working Party meeting held on 11 August 2015, copy attached.

4. **MEMBER/OFFICER PROTOCOL** (Pages 3 - 18)

5. **CONSTITUTION - PARTS 1 AND 2** (Pages 19 - 48)

6. **CONSTITUTION - PART 4** (Pages 49 - 78)

Declaration of Interest form - back of agenda

This page is intentionally left blank

Public Document Pack Agenda Item 3

CONSTITUTIONAL REVIEW WORKING PARTY

Minutes of the meeting held on 11 August 2015 at 10.00 am in Austen Room, Cecil Street, Margate, Kent.

Present: Dr Jonathan Sexton (Chairman); Mrs Janet Bacon (Independent Member of the Standards Committee)

Councillors: Elenor, Hayton, Martin and Campbell

48. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

There were no apologies.

49. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

50. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

The Working Party AGREED that the minutes of the Constitutional Review Working Party held on 4 August 2015 be approved and signed by the Chairman.

51. MEMBER/OFFICER PROTOCOL

Alex Hallam, Assistant Director of Essex Legal Services outlined the changes made to sections of the Member/Officer Protocol following the meeting on 4 August 2015.

Further sections for consideration were highlighted by the Working Party and it was agreed that the amended document would be presented at the next meeting.

52. CONSTITUTION - PARTS 1 AND 2

Alex Hallam outlined the work she had done in reviewing Parts 1 and 2 of the Constitution.

The Working Party agreed that the Monitoring Officer and Alex Hallam would review the sections highlighted in the meeting and amended drafts showing the proposed changes would be presented at the next meeting.

53. CONSTITUTION - PART 4 - RULES OF PROCEDURE

Alex Hallam advised that the proposed changes to Part 4 of the Constitution as well as a revised overall structure for the Constitution would be presented to the Working Party for consideration at the next meeting.

Meeting concluded : 12.20pm

This page is intentionally left blank

Protocol on Member/Officer Relations

Introduction

Mutual trust and respect between Members and Staff is at the heart of the Council's good governance. Both are essential if the partnership necessary for the effective and efficient running of the Council is to succeed.

1.0 Definitions

Unless the context indicates otherwise, references in this Protocol to the following terms shall have the following meanings:

- 1.2.1 Member includes a non-elected i.e. co-opted member as well as elected members of the Council.
- 1.2.2 Member body includes the Council, the Cabinet, Scrutiny and Regulatory Committees, and all other committees, sub-committees and panels described in the Constitution.
- 1.2.3 Cabinet Member refers to the leader and other members of the Cabinet under the Council's constitutional arrangements.
- 1.2.4 Officer means all persons employed by the Council.
- 1.2.5 Chief Officer means the Chief Executive and the corporate directors
- 1.2.6 Designated Finance Officer means the Director of Corporate Resources exercising the duties prescribed by law for the financial administration of the Council.
- 1.2.7 Member Liaison Officer means an officer who may be appointed by the Chief Executive to deal with members and their enquiries on specific matters.
- 1.2.8 Monitoring Officer means the Director of Corporate Governance and is the officer with statutory responsibility for ensuring that the Council acts within the law and in accordance with its Constitution.
- 1.2.9 Political Group means any formally recognised group of elected members on the Council who are either members of the same political party or independent members.

2.0 Scope

2.1 This Protocol is designed to:

- Promote trust, openness, fairness and honesty by establishing clear ground rules;
- Define roles so as to clarify responsibilities;
- Avoid conflict;

- Prevent duplication or omission;
 - Secure compliance with the law, codes of conduct and the Council's own practising procedures; and
 - To lay down procedures for dealing with concerns by Members or Officers.
- 2.2 The Protocol represents the central element of the Council's corporate governance and provides the framework for dealing with a wide range of circumstances applying to relations between Members of the Council and its Officers.
- 2.3 This Protocol covers the main issues which may arise in Member/Officer relations but this is not intended to be comprehensive. Members and Officers should seek advice from the Chief Executive or the Monitoring Officer on any matter not covered by this Protocol or on issues of uncertainty.
- 3.0 **Purpose**
- 3.1 Together Members and Officers combine the essential skills, experience and knowledge to manage an effective public sector organisation. Members provide a democratic mandate to the Council whereas Officers contribute the professional expertise and experience to deliver the policy framework agreed by Members.
- 3.2 Whilst collaborative working is the accepted norm for Member and Officer relations at the Council it is important to recognise and take account of their different roles. This is important for day to day interaction between Members and Officers and for the public perception of the Council by ensuring transparency between the political role of Members and the professional impartial role of Officers.
- 3.3 This Protocol is intended as a written guide on the basic elements of the relationships between Members and Officers to fulfil the purposes set out above and as a means of demonstrating to the public at large that local government is serious about protecting and enhancing its integrity and reputation. This Protocol has been adopted by the Council in order to achieve these objectives and seeks to maintain and enhance the reputation and integrity of local government in general and this Council in particular.
- 4.0 **Status**
- 4.1 This Protocol establishes a set of principles to assist members and officers to work together.
- 4.2 Members and Officers must at all times observe this Protocol.
- 4.3 This Protocol is part of the Council's Constitutional documents and its importance is recognised by its adoption by full Council at its meeting on the day of with the support of all political groups represented on the Council.
- 5.0 **Principles**
- 5.1 As in all effective partnerships Member/Officer relations are based on the following principles:

- Mutual trust and respect of the different roles of Members and Officers;
 - A common purpose; providing the best possible service to the residents and other stakeholders of Thanet District Council; and
 - A commitment to non-adversarial resolution of disputes.
- 5.2 At the Council mutual respect between Members and Officers is an essential part of the way we work. Conflict and challenge are inevitable and necessary parts of the democratic process in a local authority. Demonstrating mutual respect in instances where Members disagree with specific Council policies or actions demands the highest standards of personal conduct.
- 5.3 Mutual respect is based upon an understanding of the distinct contributions Members and Officers make in respect with the boundaries between those roles. A key principle for Officers is their political impartiality; they serve the whole Council and not particular groups or Members. This is particularly important for Chief Officers and other senior officers who are prevented by law from political activities beyond party membership.
- 5.4 Further some Chief Officers hold posts with mandatory statutory responsibilities notably the Chief Executive, the designated Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer. Further information about this is provided in Article of Part 2 of the Constitution. Members must respect these duties and recognise that these Officers may be required to give advice or make decisions which Members may not agree with or support.
- 5.5 Members and Officers must always respect the roles and duties of each other. They must show respect in all their dealings by observing reasonable standards of courtesy, and by not seeking to take an early advantage by virtue of their position.
- 5.6 Whilst Members and Officers are indispensable to one another, their responsibilities are distinct. Members are accountable to the electorate. Officers are accountable to the Council as a whole. Their job is to give advice to Members (individually and collectively) and to carry out the Council's work under the direction of the Council.
- 5.7 To carry out their duties effectively, Members must have broad access to Council information. The following principles apply here:
- Members' enquiries will be dealt with promptly and effectively and within corporate timescales;
 - Members access to information will be compliant with their statutory and common law rights (see the access to information procedure in Part ? of the Constitution);
 - Officers will not without good reason, withhold information from a Member who is entitled to receive it;
 - Where confidential, personal or otherwise sensitive personal information is provided to a Member that Member will not disclose it to any other person, without authorisation.

5.8 The Council has adopted a code of conduct for Members which is set out in Part ? of the Constitution and an employee code of conduct which is set out in Part ?. The Members' code follows the general principles governing Members' conduct enshrined in law. These are:

- Selflessness – serving only the public interest;
- Honesty and integrity – not allowing these to be questioned;
- Not behaving improperly;
- Objectivity – taking decisions on merit;
- Accountability – to the public, being open to scrutiny;
- Openness – giving reasons for decisions;
- Personal judgment – reaching one's own conclusions and acting accordingly;
- Respect for others – promoting equality; avoiding discrimination; respecting others;
- Duty to uphold the law – not acting unlawfully;
- Stewardship – ensuring the prudent use of the Council's resources;
- Leadership – acting in a way which has public confidence.

5.9 The same principles underpin this Protocol and also underpin the code of conduct for officers.

5.10 Until such time as a new national code appears Officers are bound by the Council's own employee code of conduct and in some cases by the codes of their professional association.

6.0 Roles

A quick guide to Member and Officer roles:-

Members	Officers
Democratically elected and accountable to the electorate	Employees accountable to the Council
Community leader for their ward and the district as a whole	Serve the whole Council
Add a political dimension And may take a role as Cabinet member	Impartial
Set policy and strategy	Ensure operation delivery and provide advice
Bound by a statutory code of conduct	Bound by their conduct of employment

Involved in Chief Officer appointments only	Day to day management of staff
---	--------------------------------

6.1 **The role of Members**

- 6.1.1 Members have a number of different roles and need to be alert to the potential for conflicts of interest which may arise between them. Where such conflicts are likely and Members may wish to seek the advice of senior colleagues, the Chief Executive, and/or the Monitoring Officer.
- 6.1.2 Collectively Members are the ultimate policy-makers, determine the core values of the Council and approve the Council's policy framework, strategic plans and budgets.
- 6.1.3 Members represent the community, act as community leaders and promote the social, economic and environmental wellbeing of the community often in partnership with other agencies.
- 6.1.4 Every elected member represents the interests of his or her ward and individual constituents. He or she represents the Council in the ward, responds to the concerns of constituents, meets with partner agencies and often serves on local bodies.
- 6.1.5 Members are responsible for the decisions taken by Member bodies upon which they sit.
- 6.1.6 Some members may be appointed to represent the Council on local, regional or national bodies.
- 6.1.7 As politicians, elected members will make statements that are representative of the political groups to which they belong.
- 6.1.8 The role of opposition members in offering alternative policies and holding the administration group to account will inevitably involve those members in challenging decisions and care should be taken to ensure that such challenge is directed at the Cabinet Member concerned and not at officers who are charged with implementation.

6.2 **The role of Officers**

- 6.2.1 Officers are responsible for giving advice to Members to enable them to fulfil their roles, in doing so Officers will take into account all available relevant factors.
- 6.2.2 Under the direction and control of the Council (including, as appropriate, the Cabinet, committees and sub-committees), Officers manage and provide the Council services within the framework of responsibilities delegated to them. This includes the effective management of employees and operational issues.
- 6.2.3 Officers have a duty to implement lawful decisions of the Member bodies which have been properly approved in accordance with the requirement of the law and the Council's Constitution and duly minuted.
- 6.2.4 Officers have a contractual and legal duty to be impartial as well as to place their skill and judgement at the disposal of the Council; they must not allow their professional judgment and advice to be influenced by their personal view.

- 6.2.5 Officers must assist and advise all parts of the Council. They must always act to the best of their abilities and in the best interests of the Council.
- 6.2.6 Officers must be alert to issues which are, or are likely to be, contentious or politically sensitive, and be aware of the implications for Members, the media or other sections of the public and advise accordingly.
- 6.2.7 Officers have the right not to support Members in any role other than that of an elected councillor, and not to engage in actions incompatible with its Protocol. In particular there is a statutory limitation on Officers' involvement in political activities from those Officers employed in politically restricted posts.

7.0 Conduct

7.1 Attitude and Behaviour

- 7.1.1 The conduct of Members and Officers should be such as to instil mutual confidence and trust.
- 7.1.2 The key elements are recognition of, and a respect for, each other's roles and responsibilities. These should be reflected in the behaviour and attitude of each to the other both publicly and privately.
- 7.1.3 Members should be aware that Officers are constrained in the response they may make to public comments from Members. Members should not criticise Officers personally in public or through the press nor seek to undermine their position by abuse, rudeness or ridicule. This in no way reduces the right of Members to criticise, in a constructive manner, the report or actions of a department or section of the Council where they believe such criticism is well-founded.
- 7.1.4 Discussions and correspondence between Members and Officers should at all times be well-mannered and professional.
- 7.1.5 Informal and collaborative two-way contact between Members and Officers is encouraged, but over familiarity can damage the relationship as might a family or business connection.
- 7.1.6 Members and Officers should inform the Chief Executive or Monitoring Officer of any personal relationship between each other which might be seen as unduly influencing their work in their respective roles.
- 7.1.7 It is not enough to avoid actual impropriety. Members and Officers should always be open about their relationships to avoid any reason for suspicion and any appearance of improper conduct. Where a personal relationship has been disclosed those concerned should avoid a situation where conflict could be perceived. Specifically a Member should not sit on a body or participate in any decision which directly affects the Officer on a personal basis.
- 7.1.8 Members of staff should not discuss with a Member personal matters concerning themselves or another individual employee. This does not prevent them raising on a personal basis and in their own time a Council service related matter with their ward Member.
- 7.1.9 Members and Officers should respect each other's free (i.e. non-Council) time.

7.2 Conduct of Overview and Scrutiny Panel meetings, scrutiny reviews and associated business

- 7.2.1 In consultation with the Chairman it should be the responsibility of directors to ensure that those Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel who need to know of matters being proposed or brought forward for Cabinet decision-making well in advance.
- 7.2.2 The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel should maintain regular contact with the Officers providing the principal support to the overview and scrutiny function staff in consultation with the Chairman. It should be the responsibility of the latter to ensure that those who need to know of matters being considered or for possible future consideration are so informed.
- 7.2.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Panel or its Chairman acting on its behalf may require Officers to attend scrutiny meetings. Members should not normally expect junior officers to give evidence but directors of services will be expected to comply with the (scrutiny procedure rules). All requests should be made to Chief Officers in the first instance.
- 7.2.4 When making requests for Officer attendance, scrutiny members shall have regard to the work load of Officers.
- 7.2.5 It is recognised that Officers appearing before the Overview and Scrutiny Panel may often be those who have advised the Cabinet or another part of the Council on the matter under investigation. In these circumstances an Officer may have a conflict of interest although not a personal interest. Both Members and Officers need to consider the severity of the conflict. If deemed appropriate research and advice may be sought elsewhere.
- 7.2.6 Subject to the provisions of 7.2.5 Officers should be prepared to justify advice given to a Member body even when the advice is not accepted.
- 7.2.7 Officers must also be prepared to justify decisions they have taken under delegated powers.
- 7.2.8 In giving evidence Officers must not be asked to give political views.
- 7.2.9 Officers should respect Members in the way they respond to Member's questions.
- 7.2.10 Members should not question Officers in a way that could be interpreted as harassment neither should they ask about matters of a disciplinary nature.
- 7.2.11 Scrutiny proceedings must not be used to question the capability or competence of Officers. Chairman and Members need to make a distinction between reviewing the policies and performance of the Council in its services and appraising the personal performance of Officers. The matter is not an overview and scrutiny function.
- 7.2.12 In exercising the right to call in a decision of the Cabinet scrutiny Members must seek Officer advice if they consider the decision is contrary to the Council's approved budget or policy framework or is unlawful.

8.0 Decision making and matters specific to Cabinet business

8.1 Roles

- 8.1.1 Cabinet Members will take decisions in accordance with the Constitution and will not otherwise direct staff. Directors will be responsible for instructing staff to implement the Cabinet's decisions.
- 8.1.2 Cabinet members are responsible for providing leadership and direction on policy matters. Day-to-day managerial and operational decisions on the delivery of services should remain the responsibility of the Chief Executive and other officers
- 8.1.3 Cabinet members will routinely be consulted as part of the process of drawing up proposals for consideration on an agenda for a forthcoming meeting, but it must be recognised that in some situations an officer will be under a professional duty to submit a report. Similarly, a Director or senior officer will always be fully responsible for the contents of any report submitted in their name. This means that any such report will be amended only where the amendment reflects the professional judgement of the author of the report. This is to be distinguished from a situation where there is a value judgement to be made. Any issues arising between a Cabinet member and a Director in this area should be referred to the Chief Executive for resolution in conjunction with the Leader of the Council.
- 8.1.4 In addition to individual Members of the Cabinet, the Chief Executive, Directors (including the Section 151 Officer) and the Monitoring Officer have the right to submit papers to the Cabinet as a whole or to individual Cabinet Members for consideration.
- 8.1.5 Before any formal decisions are taken by the Cabinet, the Section 151 Officer and the Monitoring Officer and the Director(s) of the service involved must be consulted. This is to ensure that budget holders are aware of the proposed decision, that the decision's legal implications can be considered, that the opportunity to offer advice has been identified, and that officers are subsequently able properly to authorise the various financial and legal transactions and requirements needed to implement decisions.
- 8.1.6 The Chief Executive, Directors and Cabinet Members shall agree mutually convenient methods of regular contact, in the form of briefings as set out in [4.3?] above, regular meetings between Cabinet Members and the Directors of their respective portfolio areas, and/or any other appropriate method which complies with law and the Constitution. Before taking any formal decisions, the Cabinet will seek appropriate professional advice including, without exception, the Chief Executive, the Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer, and will not direct Officers in the framing of recommendations.
- 8.1.7 When formal advice is given by the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer and/or the Section 151 Officer in the furtherance of their statutory duties, Members should be expected to follow it. However, it is recognised that circumstances may arise where they may wish to ignore such advice. Members may make decisions contrary to the advice of officers generally, and Statutory Officers in particular, but should note the following:

- (a) Decisions so made may be in breach of the Council's legal duties, particularly the Public Sector Equality Duty;
- (b) Decisions may have unforeseen, negative consequences on the local community, which officers may not have had an opportunity to consider in advance of a decision being made contrary to their advice;
- (c) Even where a decision made by Members contrary to officer advice is not contrary to legislation, it could still render the Council subject to successful legal action, further to a judicial review, action for breach of contract or action for negligence, or all three;
- (d) Such successful action could make the Council liable for damages (whose quantum may not, at the point of decision, be apparent) and against which the Council may not be insured;
- (e) Such successful action would result in reputational damage to the Council and a broken relationship of trust with any person adversely affected by the decision.

8.1.8 Where, notwithstanding the above, Members wish to make a decision contrary to advice, all correspondence relating to the decision must be transacted in writing, including the officer advice itself and the reasons given by Members for acting against it.

8.2 Decisions by individual members

8.2.1 An individual Cabinet Member who is minded to write or commission a report or to make a decision about a matter within his/her portfolio must ensure that those other Members and Officers who need to know of the matter are informed. There is a particular requirement to involve other Cabinet Members on cross-cutting issues.

8.2.2 Executive Members when making decisions must state the reasons for those decisions in the written record.

8.3 Decisions made by officers under delegated powers

8.3.1 Officers taking decisions under their delegated powers must exercise their judgement and consult with the relevant Cabinet Member (s) in advance when the matter to which the decisions relate are likely to be sensitive or contentious, where the Officer considers that the decision may have wider policy implications, or where the Cabinet Member (s) has/have previously informed the Officer that particular decisions or classes of decisions may have such implications.

8.3.2 Officers are responsible for implementing Member decisions and in the case of Cabinet decisions Chief Officers will be responsible for instructing staff to implement decisions.

8.3.3 Apart from the formal decision making process, Officers work to the instruction of their managers and not individual members. Officers will try to comply with all reasonable requests from Members but Members cannot instruct Officers to do any piece of work or take any course of action.

- 8.3.4 Officers must observe the requirements set out in the office of delegations in Part ?, Schedule ? of the Constitution when taking decisions and ensure that decisions falling outside it are referred to the appropriate Member body for decision unless action is to be taken under standing order ?
- 8.3.5 When taking decisions under their delegated powers Officers should be aware of decisions which are likely to be sensitive or contentious. In such cases Officers should inform the relevant Cabinet Member(s) and where appropriate ward Members of their intentions in advance.
- 8.3.6 Officers should also keep Cabinet Members informed in advance of any decisions which they take that have wider policy implications.
- 8.3.7 While Officers will support, advise and respond to Members' requests they must not be asked to exceed the bounds of authority they have been given by their manager.

8.4 Decisions affecting Council staff

- 8.4.1 The role of Members in employment matters are limited to:
- Determining significant human resources policies and conditions of employment;
 - The appointment and discipline of Chief Officers;
 - Hearing and determining appeals.
- 8.4.2 Members shall not act outside these roles.
- 8.4.3 Officers are responsible for the appointment and discipline of all other Officers.
- 8.4.4 In participating in the appointment of Chief Officers, Members should:
- Respect the confidentiality of the process and in particular the identity of the candidates.
 - Remember that the sole criterion is merit;
 - Never canvass support for a particular candidate;
 - Not take part where one of the candidates is a close relative or friend;
 - Not be influenced by personal preferences; and
 - Not favour a candidate by giving them information not available to the other candidates.
- 8.4.5 Officers will not seek any Members' support in any employment matter.
- 8.4.6 When discussing or making decisions about industrial relations matters, Members must remember that they represent the Council as an employer and are not a representative of the employees. If a Member considers that they cannot undertake this task from this perspective they should withdraw from this role.

9.0 Support for Members

9.1 Members' enquiries and access to Officers

- 9.1.1 Members enquiries may be made by any means including verbally, email or in writing.
- 9.1.2 Members should normally direct their requests and concerns in relation to policy, spending and other major issues to the relevant Director in the first instance. Failure to do so would have the effect of depriving Members of formal, informed and accountable advice they have a right to expect from senior officers and which they have a duty to consider.
- 9.1.3 Approaches by Members to other Officers, are proper when they are seeking clarification of a response from that Officer or where the nature of the enquiry is routine and requires a detailed knowledge of the issues.
- 9.1.4 Members' enquiries will be dealt with promptly and effectively. A substantive response to a Member enquiry should be sent within ten working days of receipt.
- 9.1.5 Officers receiving Member enquiries should ensure that if they are absent or unavailable for more than one working day that their email is checked by a colleague. Out of office email replies should always give an alternative contact.
- 9.1.6 If it is not possible to respond within ten working days, Officers must explain in writing:
- The reason for the delay;
 - What action is being taken to pursue the enquiry; and
 - A deadline by which a substantive response will be sent.
- 9.1.7 Members' enquiries which are in fact constituent complaints will be handled under the Council's complaint procedure.
- 9.1.8 The Chief Executive and corporate directors are responsible for ensuring that Member enquiries are dealt with promptly and accurately by the department.
- 9.1.9 In seeking to deal with constituent's queries or concerns Members should not seek to jump the queue but should respect the Council's procedures. Officers have many pressures on their time. They may not be able to carry out the work required by Members in the requested timescale and may need to seek instructions from their manager. Where an enquiry imposes a disproportionate burden on Officers' workloads, this should be explained and discussed with the Member concerned and Chief Officers to agree an alternative deadline or response.
- 9.1.10 This Members' enquiry procedure supplements but does not replace Members' statutory and common-law rights to information.
- 9.1.11 Co-opted and independent Members' rights to access to information will be limited to those areas that fall within the remit of the body to which they are appointed and their statutory rights.

9.1.12 An Officer should not copy correspondence which they have had with a Member to any other Member unless:

- That Member agrees; or
- The other Member is entitled to the information under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 or the Data Protection Act 1998; or
- The correspondence from the Member includes a circulation list with other Members' names on it when the response can be copied to the persons on the list; or
- A response has been given to a question raised at a meeting of a Member body when the response can be copied to other Members. The above does not prevent an Officer copying correspondence to other Officers unless there are confidentiality issues.

A member may copy correspondence which they have had with an Officer to other Members and third parties unless it contains confidential personal or otherwise sensitive information. For the avoidance of doubt correspondence containing such information should state that it is confidential.

9.2 Briefings for political groups

9.2.1 Chief Officers may be asked to contribute to deliberations of matters concerning Council business by political groups.

9.2.2 Chief Officers have the right to refuse such requests and will normally not attend a meeting of a political group where some of those attending are not Members of the Council.

9.2.3 Officer support will not extend beyond providing the factual information or professional advice in relation to matters of Council business. Chief Officers must not be involved in advising on matters of party business and therefore should not be expected to be present at meetings or parts of meetings where such matters are to be discussed.

9.2.4 Political group meetings are not empowered to make decisions on behalf of the Council, and conclusions reached at such meetings do not rank as formal decisions. The presence of a Chief Officer confers no formal status on such meetings in terms of Council business and must not be interpreted as doing so.

9.2.5 Where Chief Officers provide factual information and advice for a political group in relation to a matter of Council business this is not a substitute for providing all the necessary information and advice when the matter in question is formally considered by the relevant part of the Council.

9.2.6 It must not be assumed that a Chief Officer is supportive of a particular policy or view considered at a political group meeting simply because they have attended or provided information to the meeting.

- 9.2.7 Chief Officers will respect the confidentiality of any political group discussions at which they are present and unless requested to do so by that political group will not relay the contents of such discussions to another party group or to any other Member. This shall not prevent a Chief Officer providing a feedback to other Chief Officers.
- 9.2.8 In their dealings with political groups Chief Officers must treat each group in a fair and even-handed manner.
- 9.2.9 Members must not do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise Chief Officers' impartiality.
- 9.2.10 A Chief Officer accepting an invitation to the meeting at one political group shall not decline an invitation to advise another group about the same matter. They must give consistent advice to each.
- 9.2.11 Only a Chief Officer or their nominee shall be entitled to attend a political group meeting.
- 9.2.12 A Chief Officer should be given the opportunity of verifying comments and advice attributed to them in any written record of a political group meeting.
- 9.2.13 No Member will refer in public or at meetings of the Council to advice or information given by Chief Officers to a political group meeting.
- 9.2.14 At political group meetings where some of those present are not members of the Council care must be taken not to divulge confidential information relating to Council business. Persons who are not Members are not bound by the Members' Code of Conduct. They do not have the same rights to Council information as Members.

9.3 Access to information

- 9.3.1 To carry out their duties effectively, Members must have broad access to Council information. This is a complex area which is subject to a wide range of legislation as well as the common law and the detailed rules are set out in the access to information procedure rules, Part ? of the Constitution (and standing order ?). The remainder of this section deals with some specific points.
- 9.3.2 Members' access to information will be compliant with their statutory and common law rights.

The common law right of Members is based on the principle that any Member has a prima facie right to inspect Council documents as far as their access to the documents is reasonably necessary to enable them to perform their duties as a Member of a Council. This principle is commonly referred to as the "need to know" principle.

The exercise of this common law right depends therefore upon the Members' ability to demonstrate that they have the necessary "need to know". In this respect a Member has no right to a "roving commission" to go and examine documents of the Council. Mere curiosity is not sufficient. The crucial question is the determination of the "need to know". This question must initially be determined by the particular Chief

Officer whose department holds the document in question (with advice from the Monitoring Officer).

In some circumstances (e.g. a committee member wishing to inspect documents relating to the functions of that committee) a Member's "need to know" will normally be presumed. In other circumstances (e.g. a Member wishing to inspect documents which contain personal information about third parties) a Member will normally be expected to justify the request in specific terms.

- 9.3.3 Officers will not without good reason withhold information from a Member who is entitled to receive it.
- 9.3.4 Any disputes relating to access to information will be referred to the Monitoring Officer for determination.
- 9.3.5 Where confidential personal or otherwise sensitive information is provided to a Member they will not disclose it to any other person without authorisation.

9.4 Use of Council resources

- 9.4.1 The Council provides all Members with services such as photocopying and computer equipment to assist them in discharging their role as Members. These are paid for from the public purse. They should not be used for private purposes or in connection with party political or campaigning activities.
- 9.4.2 Members should ensure that they understand and comply with the Council's own rules about the use of such resources particularly:
 - Where facilities are provided in Members' homes at the Council' expense and regarding ICT; and
 - Regarding ICT use and security.
- 9.4.3 Members should not put pressure on Officers to provide resources or support which Officers are not permitted to give. Examples are:
 - Business which is solely to do with a political party;
 - Work in connection with a ward or constituency party political meeting;
 - Electioneering;
 - Work associated with an event attended by a Member in a capacity other than as a Member of the Council;
 - Private personal correspondence;
 - Work in connection with another body or organisation where a Member's involvement is other than as a Member of the Council; and
 - Support the Member in their capacity as a councillor for another local authority.

10.0 Public relations

10.1 Relations with the media

10.1.1 The Media and Communication Team is responsible for:

- Making official press/media statements relating to the function and business of the Council, consulting with the relevant Cabinet Member, Committee Chairman or Officer as appropriate; and
- Dealing with day-to-day media enquiries.

In making a press or media statement regard must be had to the law on Local Authority publicity and the relevant code of practice.

10.1.2 Cabinet Members and Committee Chairman may also make statements to the press/media on Council matters and they represent the Council in media interviews. If a Cabinet Member or Committee Chairman wants to speak to the press or media in a personal capacity or as a representative of their political group they should make this clear at the outset.

10.1.3 If other Members wish to speak to the media they will do this in a personal capacity or as a representative of their political group.

10.1.4 Chief Officers (or their nominees) may deal with any request for information or questions asked by the press/media and may represent the Council in media interviews.

10.1.5 Any Member or Officer who speaks to the press or media on an issue should:

- Consult with the Communications Team for the Council in advance of speaking to the press or to the media
- Be sure of what they want to say or not say;
- Consider the likely consequences for the Council of their statement;
- Never give a commitment in relation to matters which may be subject to claims from third parties and/or are likely to be an insurance matter;
- Consider whether to consult other relevant members; and
- Take particular care in what is said in the run-up to local or national elections to avoid giving the impression of electioneering unless they have been contacted as an election candidate or political party activist.

10.1.6 Press releases or statements made by Officers must promote or give information on Council policy or services. They will be factual and consistent with Council policy. They cannot be used to promote a party group.

10.1.7 Before responding to enquiries from the media, Officers shall ensure they are authorised to do so.

10.1.8 Likewise Officers will inform the Council's communication and media section of issues likely to be of media interest when they have been contacted by the media since that unit is often the media's first point of contact.

10.2 Correspondence

10.2.1 Correspondence between an individual Member and an Officer should not be copied to another Member unless the author expressly intends and states that this is the case or consents. Where correspondence is copied this should always be made explicit and there should be no "blind" copies.

10.2.2 Official letters written on behalf of the Council should normally be in the name of the relevant Officer.

10.2.3 The Leader may initiate correspondence in their own name.

10.2.4 Letters which create legally enforceable obligations or which give instructions on behalf of the Council should never be sent in the name of a Member.

10.2.5 When writing in an individual capacity as a ward Member, a Member must make clear that fact.

10.2.6 Correspondence between Members and staff should reflect mutual trust and respect which is essential to the relationship.

11.0 What to do when things go wrong

11.1 Procedure for Officers

From time to time the relationship between Members and Officers may become strained or break down. Whilst it will always be preferable to resolve matters informally, through conciliation by an appropriate senior manager or Members, Officers will have recourse to the Council's Grievance Procedure or to the Council's Monitoring Officer, as appropriate to the circumstances. In the event of the basis for a grievance or complaint being found, the matter will be referred to the Chief Executive, who, having advised the Leader of the Council and the appropriate group leader, will refer it to the Standards Committee for consideration and determination.

11.2 Procedure for Members

In the event that a Member is dissatisfied with the conduct, behaviour or performance of an Officer, the matter should be raised with the appropriate Head of Service. Where the Officer concerned is a Head of Service or Director of Service the matter should be raised with the Chief Executive. Where the employee concerned is the Chief Executive, the matter should be raised with the Director of Finance and Corporate Services. If the matter cannot be resolved informally, it may be necessary to invoke the Council's Disciplinary Procedure and, where appropriate, act in accordance with a report of a "designated independent person" (see Prescribed Standing Order 10). [Note – check reference to elsewhere in the document on completion]

Part 1 - Summary and Explanation

1.0 The Council's Constitution

The Council has agreed a new constitution which sets out how the Council operates, how decisions are made and the procedures which are followed to ensure that these are efficient, transparent and accountable to local people. Some of these processes are required by the law, while others are a matter for the Council to choose and codes of practice are provided in separate rules and protocols in other parts of this Constitution.

2.0 What's in the Constitution?

Article 1 of the Constitution commits the Council to exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with the law. Articles 2 – 16 explain the rights of ~~citizens~~residents and how the key parts of the Council operate. These are:

- Members of the Council (Article 2)
- ~~Citizens~~Residents and the Council (Article 3)
- The Council meeting (Article 4)
- Chairing the Council (Article 5)
- Overview and scrutiny of decisions (Article 6)
- The Executive (Article 7)
- Regulatory and other committees *in Council's operating executive arrangements* (Article 8/7)
- The Standards Committee (Article 9/8)
- Area [committees (Article 10/9)
- Joint arrangements (Article 11/10)
- Officers (Article 12/11)
- Decision making (Article 13/12)
- Finance, contracts and legal matters (Article 14/13)
- Review and revision of the Constitution (Article 15/14)
- Suspension, interpretation and publication of the Constitution (Article 16/15)

Comment [AH1]: Check the numbers of articles correlate with the text.

3.0 How the Council operates

The Council is composed of 56 councillors elected every four years. Councillors are democratically accountable to residents of their ward. The overriding duty of councillors is to the whole community, but they have a special duty to their constituents, including those who did not vote for them.

Councillors have to agree to follow a code of conduct to ensure high standards in the way they undertake their duties. The Standards Committee trains and advises them on the code of conduct.

All councillors meet together as the Council. Meetings of the Council are normally open to the public. Here councillors decide the Council's overall policies and set the budget each year.

At the Annual Meeting of the Council in the year of an ordinary election of Councillors, the Council will appoint one of the Councillors to the office of Leader of the Council for a term ending on the date of the Annual Meeting of Council in the next year of an ordinary election of Councillors (i.e. for four years). The Leader will also appoint a Deputy Leader for the same term of office to act in his absence. However, in each Council Year the Leader will appoint between one and eight other Councillors to combine with the Leader and Deputy Leader to form a Cabinet. The Leader will then allocate a number of functional responsibilities (called a portfolio) to each of them. The Cabinet is responsible for an extensive range of functions in accordance with this Constitution and the policies and budget agreed by the Council. [See Articles 2 to 5.]

4.0 How Decisions are Made

The Cabinet is the part of the Council which is responsible for most day-to-day decisions that are made by members. – When major decisions are to be discussed or made, these are published in the Cabinet's forward plan in so far as they can be anticipated. If these major decisions are to be discussed with council officers at a meeting of the Cabinet, ~~this~~the meeting will generally be open for the public to attend except where ~~personal or other confidential matters are being discussed~~matters that fall into the statutory exemptions apply in which case there will be a private session. The exemptions apply broadly to personal or commercially confidential matters. The Cabinet has to make decisions which are in line with the Council's overall policies and budget. If it wishes to make a decision which is outside the budget or policy framework, this must be referred to the Council as a whole to decide.

5.0 Overview and Scrutiny

There is an overview and scrutiny committee who supports the work of the Cabinet and the Council as a whole. They allow ~~citizens~~residents to have a greater say in Council matters by holding public inquiries into matters of local concern. These lead to reports and recommendations which advise the Cabinet and the Council as a whole on its policies, budget and service delivery. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee ~~also~~ monitors the decisions of the Cabinet and of individual Cabinet members. They can 'call-in' a decision which has been made by the Cabinet but not yet implemented. This enables them to consider whether the decision is appropriate. They may recommend that the Cabinet reconsiders the decision. They may also be consulted by the Cabinet or the Council on forthcoming decisions and the development of policy.

~~7.0~~ The Council's Staff

The Council has people working for it (called 'officers') to give advice, implement decisions and manage the day-to-day delivery of its services. Some officers have a specific duty to ensure that the Council acts within the law and uses its resources wisely. A code of practice governs the relationships between officers and members of the Council.

Comment [AH2]: Insert x reference

~~8.0~~ ~~Citizens~~Residents' Rights

Members of the public have a number of rights in their dealings with the Council. Some of these are legal rights, whilst others depend on the Council's own processes. Where members of the public use specific council services, ~~for example as a parent of a school pupil or as a council tenant,~~ they may have additional rights. These are not covered in this Constitution.

CitizensResidents have the rights to:

- vote at local elections if they are registered;
- contact their local councillor about any matters of concern to them;

- obtain a copy of the Constitution;
- attend meetings of the Council and its committees except where, for example, personal or confidential matters are being discussed;
- petition to request a referendum on a mayoral form of executive;
- participate in the Council's question time and contribute to investigations by the overview and scrutiny committees as set out in [?];
- find out, from the Cabinet's forward plan, what major decisions are to be discussed by the Cabinet or decided by the Cabinet or officers, and when;
- attend meetings of the Cabinet where key decisions are being discussed or decided;
- see reports and background papers, and any record of decisions made by the Council and Cabinet;
- complain to the Council using the Council's complaints process;
- complain to the Ombudsman if they think the Council has not followed its procedures properly. However, they should only do this after using the Council's own complaints process;
- complain to the Council if they have evidence which they think shows that a councillor has not followed the Council's Code of Conduct; and
- inspect the Council's accounts and make their views known to the external auditor.

The Democratic Services Team will also supply information about the rights of ~~citizens~~residents to inspect agendas and reports and attend meetings.

Part 2 - Articles of the Constitution

Article 1 – The Constitution

1.01 Powers of the Council

The Council will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with the law and this Constitution.

1.02 The Constitution

This Constitution, and all its appendices, is the Constitution of the Thanet District Council.

1.03 Purpose of the Constitution

The purpose of the Constitution is to:

1. enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community in partnership with ~~citizens~~residents, businesses and other organisations;
2. support the active involvement of ~~citizens~~residents in the process of local authority decision-making;
3. help Councillors represent their constituents more effectively;
4. enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively;
5. create a powerful and effective means of holding decision-makers to public account;
6. ensure that no one will review or scrutinise a decision ~~in~~for which they were directly ~~involved~~responsible;
7. ensure that those responsible for decision making are clearly identifiable to local people and that they explain the reasons for decisions; and
8. provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the community.

1.04 Interpretation and Review of the Constitution

Where the Constitution permits the Council to choose between different courses of action, the Council will always choose that option which it thinks is closest to the purposes stated above.

The Council may monitor and evaluate the operation of the Constitution as set out in Article 15 and may make changes to it at any time.

Article 2 – Members of the Council

2.01 Composition and eligibility

- (a) **Composition.** The Council will comprise 56 members, otherwise called councillors. One or more councillors will be elected by the voters of each ward in accordance with the law applicable at the time of any election.

Eligibility. Only registered voters of the district or those living or working there will be eligible to hold the office of councillor.

2.02 Election and terms of Councillors

Election and terms. The regular election of councillors will be held on the first Thursday in May every four years beginning in 2003. The terms of office of councillors will start on the fourth day after being elected and will finish on the fourth day after the date of the next regular election.

2.03 Roles and functions of all Councillors

- (a) **Key roles.** All councillors will:
- (i) collectively be the ultimate policy-makers and carry out a number of strategic and corporate management functions;
 - (ii) represent their communities and bring their views into the Council's decision-making process, ~~i.e. become the advocate of and for their communities;~~
 - (iii) effectively represent the interests of their ward and of individual constituents;
 - (iv) respond to constituents' enquiries and representations, fairly and impartially;
 - (v) participate in the governance and management of the Council;
 - (vi) maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics; and
 - (vii) be eligible to represent the Council on other bodies.
- (b) **Rights and duties**
- (i) Councillors will have such rights of access to such documents, information, land and buildings of the Council as are necessary for the proper discharge of their functions and in accordance with the law.
 - (ii) Councillors will not make public information which is confidential or exempt without the consent of the Council or divulge information given in confidence to anyone other than a councillor or officer entitled to know it.
 - (iii) For these purposes, "confidential" and "exempt" information are defined in the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.

2.04 Conduct

Councillors must at all times observe the Members' Code of Conduct and the Protocol on Member/Officer Relations set out in **Part 5** of this Constitution.

2.05 Allowances

Councillors will be entitled to receive allowances in accordance with the Members' Allowances Scheme set out in **Part ?** of this Constitution.

Article 3 – ~~Citizens~~Residents and the Council

3.01 ~~Citizens~~Residents' rights

NB. These rights are subject to the provisions of the relevant legislation and, where applicable, to the provisions of this Constitution.

~~Citizens~~Residents have the following rights. Their rights to information and to participate are explained in more detail in the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.

- (a) **Voting and petitions.** ~~Citizens~~Residents on the electoral roll for the area have the right to vote and sign a petition to request a referendum for an elected mayor form of Constitution.
- (b) **Information.** ~~Citizens~~Residents have the right to:
 - (i) attend meetings of the Council and its committees except where confidential or exempt information is likely to be disclosed, and the meeting is therefore held in private;
 - (ii) attend meetings of the executive when key decisions are being considered;
 - (iii) find out from the forward plan what key decisions will be taken by the ~~executive~~Cabinet and when;
 - (iv) see reports and background papers, and any records of decisions made by the Council and the ~~executive~~Cabinet; and
 - (v) inspect the Council's accounts and make their views known to the external auditor.
- (c) **Participation.** ~~Citizens~~Residents have the right to participate in the Council's question time and contribute to investigations by overview and scrutiny ~~committees~~.
- (d) **Complaints.** ~~Citizens~~Residents have the right to complain to:
 - (i) the Council itself under its complaints scheme;
 - (ii) the Ombudsman after using the Council's own complaints scheme;
 - (iii) about the conduct of a member if they have evidence which they believe shows that a member has breached the Council's code of conduct.

Comment [AH3]: Check use of language

3.02 ~~Citizens~~Residents' responsibilities

~~Citizens~~Residents must not be violent, abusive or threatening to councillors or officers and must not wilfully harm things owned by the council, councillors or officers.

~~3.03 – Contacting their local member~~

- ~~(a) Citizens have the right to contact their local member about any matters of concern to them.~~
- ~~(b) Citizens have the right to lobby any member about any matters of concern to them.~~

3.043 Contacting the Council

~~Citizens~~Residents can contact the Council through its website, by email, in person or on the telephone.

Article 4 – The Full Council

4.01 Meanings

- (a) **Policy Framework.** The policy framework means the following plans and strategies:

Comment [AH4]: Revisions to be inserted

- Best Value Performance Plan;
- Community Strategy;
- Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy;
- Local Transport Plan;
- Plans and strategies which together comprise the Development Plan.
- Council's Corporate Plan;
- Food Law Enforcement Service Plan;
- The plan and strategy which comprise the Housing Investment Programme;
- Local Agenda 21 Strategy.

Other plans and strategies which the council may decide should be adopted by the Council meeting

- (b) **Budget.** The budget includes the allocation of financial resources to different services and projects, proposed contingency funds, the council tax base, setting the council tax and decisions relating to the control of the Council's borrowing requirement, the control of its capital expenditure and the setting of virement limits.
- (c) **Housing Land Transfer.** Housing Land Transfer means the approval or adoption of applications (whether in draft form or not) to the Secretary of State for approval of a programme of disposal of 500 or more properties to a person under the Leasehold Reform, Housing and Urban Development Act 1993 or to dispose of land used for residential purposes where approval is required under sections 32 or 43 of the Housing Act 1985.

4.02 Functions of the full Council

Except as otherwise allowed by **Article 13 and Article 15**, only the Council will exercise the following functions:

- (a) adopting and changing the Constitution;
- (b) approving or adopting the policy framework, the budget and any application to the Secretary of State in respect of any Housing Land Transfer;
- (c) subject to the urgency procedure contained in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution, making decisions about any matter in the discharge of an executive function which is covered by the policy framework or the budget where the decision maker is minded to make it in a manner which would be contrary to the policy framework or contrary to/or not wholly in accordance with the budget;
- (d) appointing the leader;
- (e) agreeing and/or amending the terms of reference for Committees, deciding on their composition and making appointments to them;
- (f) appointing representatives to outside bodies unless the appointment is an executive function or has been delegated by the Council;
- (g) adopting an allowances scheme under Article 2.05;

- (h) changing the name of the area;
- (i) confirming the appointment of the head of paid service;
- (j) making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting bylaws and promoting or opposing the making of local legislation or personal Bills;
- (k) all local choice functions set out in Part 3 of this Constitution which the Council decides should be undertaken by itself rather than the executive; and
- (l) all other matters which, by law, must be reserved to Council.

4.03 Council meetings

There are three types of Council meeting:

- (a) the annual meeting;
- (b) ordinary meetings;
- (c) extraordinary meetings.

and they will be conducted in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.

4.04 Responsibility for functions

The Council will maintain the tables in Part 3 of this Constitution setting out the responsibilities for the Council's functions which are not the responsibility of the Cabinet.

Article 5 – Chairing the Council

5.01 Role and function of the chairman

The chairman of council and in his/her absence, the vice-chairman, will have the following roles and functions:

- Ceremonial role
- Chairing the council meeting

The Chairman will be elected by the Council annually. The chairman will have the following responsibilities:

1. to uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution, and to interpret the Constitution when necessary;
2. to preside over meetings of the Council so that its business can be carried out efficiently and with regard to the rights of councillors and the interests of the community;
3. to ensure that the Council meeting is a forum for the debate of matters of concern to the local community and the place at which members who are not on the Cabinet or hold committee chairs are able to hold the cabinet members and committee chairmen to account;
4. to promote public involvement in the Council's activities;
5. to be the conscience of the Council; and
6. to attend such civic and ceremonial functions as the Council and he/she determines appropriate.

Article 6 – Overview and Scrutiny Panel

6.01 Terms of reference

The Council will always appoint at least one overview and scrutiny panel to discharge the functions conferred by section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000 and set out in detail in 6.03 of this article.

6.02 General role

Within their terms of reference, the Overview and Scrutiny panel will:

- (a) review and/or scrutinise the decisions made or actions taken in connection with the discharge of any of the Council's functions;
- (b) make reports and/or recommendations to the Cabinet, Council or any appropriate Committee in connection with the discharge of any functions; and
- (c) consider any matter affecting the area or its residents.

6.03 Specific functions

Terms of Reference

- (a) to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection with the discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the Cabinet;
- (b) to make reports or recommendations to the authority or the Cabinet with respect to the discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the Cabinet;
- (c) to deal with all call-in matters arising under Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 15 and Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rule 6;
- (d) to deal with all overview and scrutiny policy matters contained within the constitution, having specific regard for (i) developing new approaches to policy and making appropriate recommendations to assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of its policy framework by in-depth analysis of policy issues, and (ii) for budget development, budget review and spending performance issues and in order to assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of its budget framework;
- (e) within the constraints of officer time and budgets, conduct research, community and other consultation in the analysis of policy issues and possible options;
- (f) consider and implement mechanisms to encourage and enhance community participation in the development of policy options;
- (g) liaise with other external organisations operating in the area, whether national, regional or local, to ensure that the interests of local people are enhanced by collaborative working;
- (h) to make reports or recommendation to the authority or the Cabinet on matters which affect the authority's area or the inhabitants of the area;
- (i) to review external partnership working and the performance of external service providers;
- (j) to undertake Best Value, Value for Money and other reviews, and review action plans arising from them, including progress on their implementation;
- (k) to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection with the discharge of any functions which are not the responsibility of the Cabinet;
- (l) to make reports or recommendations to the authority or the Cabinet with respect to the discharge of any functions which are not the responsibility of the Cabinet.

- | **6.04 Annual report.** The overview and scrutiny panel ~~may~~will report annually to full Council on their workings and make recommendations for future work programmes and amended working methods if appropriate.

6.05 Proceedings of overview and scrutiny panel

The overview and scrutiny panel will conduct their proceedings in accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

Article 7 – The Cabinet

THE ROLE OF THE CABINET

7.01 Role

The Cabinet will carry out all of the local authority's functions which are not the responsibility of any other part of the local authority, whether by law or under this Constitution.

7.02 Form and composition

The Cabinet will consist of the LLeader of the Council together with the Deputy Leader and at least one but not more than 8 councillors appointed by the leader.

7.03 Leader

The Leader will be a councillor elected to the position of leader by the Council. . The Leader will hold office until:

- (a) he/she resigns from the office; or
- (b) he/she is suspended from being a councillor under Part III of the Local Government Act 2000 (although he/she may resume office at the end of the period of suspension);
or
- (c) he/she is no longer a councillor; or
- (d) he/she is removed from office by resolution of the Council.

7.04 Replacement of Leader upon Resignation etc.

Should the Leader cease to hold office for any reason other than removal by a resolution of the Council, the Council will elect a new Leader at the next Ordinary Meeting of Council. Should the Leader cease to hold office by resolution of the Council, the Council will at the same meeting elect a new Leader. In either case the term of office of the new Leader will be the unexpired residue of the term of office of the former Leader.

7.05 Deputy Leader

Upon election as Leader, the Leader will appoint a Councillor to the office of Deputy Leader. The Deputy Leader will have full power to act in the absence of the Leader and will hold office until the date of the Annual Meeting of Council in the next year of an ordinary election of Councillors (i.e. for a term of four years), unless:

- (a) he/she resigns from the office; or
- (b) he/she is suspended from being a Councillor under Part III of the Local Government Act 2000 (although he/she may resume office at the end of the period of suspension);
or
- (c) he/she ceases for any reason to be a Councillor; or
- (d) he/she is removed from office by the Leader, in which case the Leader will give notice in writing to that effect to the proper officer who shall immediately give a copy of the notice to the Deputy Leader and to the Chief Executive (unless it is clear that this has

already been done). The removal will take immediate effect upon receipt of the notice by the proper officer.

7.06 Replacement of Deputy Leader upon Resignation etc.

Should the Deputy Leader cease to hold office for any reason other than suspension from being a Councillor, the Leader will appoint a Councillor as the new Deputy Leader and will notify the Council of the identity of the new Deputy Leader at the next Ordinary Meeting of Council. The term of office of the new Deputy Leader will be the unexpired residue of the term of office of the former Deputy Leader.

7.07 Other Cabinet members

In each Council Year in which he or she holds office, the Leader will:

- (a) within the prescribed limits, determine the number of Councillors who together with the Leader and Deputy Leader shall comprise the Cabinet for the ensuing Council Year;
- (b) be responsible for appointing them;
- (c) notify Council at the Annual Meeting of his or her decisions in relation to (a) and (b) above.

7.08 Term of office of other Cabinet members

Other Cabinet members shall hold office until:

- (a) they resign from office; or
- (b) they are suspended from being councillors under Part III of the Local Government Act 2000 (although they may resume office at the end of the period of suspension); or
- (c) they are no longer councillors; or
- (d) they are removed from office by the Leader in which case the Leader will give written notice of any removal to the proper officer who shall immediately give a copy of the notice to the Cabinet member in question and to the Chief Executive (unless it is clear that this has already been done). The removal will take immediate effect upon receipt of the notice by the proper officer.

7.09 Cabinet Portfolios

In each Council Year the Leader will allocate a range of functional responsibilities (called 'a portfolio') to the members of the Cabinet and will at the Annual Meeting also notify Council of such allocation and will cause that to be recorded in the Constitution of the Council.

7.10 Proceedings of the Cabinet

Proceedings of the Cabinet shall take place in accordance with the Cabinet Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

7.11 Responsibility for functions

The Leader will maintain a list in Part 3 of this Constitution setting out which individual members of the Cabinet, committees of the Cabinet, officers or joint arrangements are responsible for the exercise of particular executive functions.

Article 8 – Regulatory and other Committees

8.01 Regulatory and other Committees

The Council will appoint the Committees set out in Part 3 of this Constitution – ‘Responsibility for Council Functions’ – to discharge the functions described.

~~This note is added for information only and does not comprise part of this Constitution.~~

~~The Committees appointed as at the date hereof are as follows:-~~

- ~~1. Planning Committee – 15 Members~~
- ~~2. Licensing Board – 15 Members~~
- ~~3. Governance and Audit Committee – 9 Members~~
- ~~4. Standards Committee – 7 Thanet District Council Members
plus 4 “independent” Members and 3
Parish/Town Council Members~~
- ~~5. Overview and Scrutiny Panel – 16 Members~~
- ~~6. Joint Transportation Board – 8 Thanet District Council Members
plus the 8 Kent County Council
Councillors representing Thanet wards
and 1 Thanet Association of Parish
Councils representative~~
- ~~7. Constitutional Review Working Party – 4 Thanet District Council Members
plus 2 “independent” Members~~
- ~~8. Standards (Assessment) Sub
Committee – Three members of the Standards
Committee including in all cases
an Independent Member and in
the case of a complaint against a
Town or Parish Councillor, at
least one Town/Parish
Representative~~
- ~~9. Standards (Hearings) Sub Committee – Three members of the Standards
Committee including in all cases
an Independent Member and in
the case of a complaint against a
Town or Parish Councillor, at
least one Town/Parish
Representative~~
- ~~10. General Purposes Committee – 10 Members~~
- ~~11. Boundary and Electoral Arrangements
Working Party – 7 Members~~

Article 9 – The Standards Committee

9.01 Standards Committee

The Council meeting will establish a Standards Committee.

9.02 Composition

(a) **Membership.** The Standards Committee will be composed of at least:

- Seven councillors [other than the ~~H~~leader];
- Four independent members;
- Three members of a parish council wholly or mainly in the Council's area (Parish Members).

(b) **Independent members.** Independent members will be entitled to vote at meetings;

(c) **Parish members.** At least one parish member must be present when matters relating to those parish councils or their members are being considered;

(d) **Chairing the Committee.** The Chairman and Vice chairman of the Committee shall be drawn from among the independent members.

9.03 Role and Function

The Standards Committee will have the following roles and functions:

- (a) To promote and maintain high ethical standards of conduct for elected and co-opted Members.
- (b) To help elected and co-opted Members to observe the Members' Code of Conduct.
- (c) To give the Council advice on adoption or revision of the Members' Code of Conduct and on informal codes/protocols covering matters such as planning and Member/Officer relations.
- (d) To monitor the effectiveness of the Members' Code of Conduct.
- (e) To train or arrange training for elected and co-opted Members on matters relating to the Members' Code of Conduct.
- (f) To deal with complaints that elected and co-opted Members have breached the Members' Code of Conduct and in connection with this function:
 - (i) To develop and adopt:
 - Assessment Criteria for dealing with complaints;
 - Policies for dealing with vexatious, persistent and anonymous complaints and requests by complainants for confidentiality;
 - Arrangements for dealing with complaints and publicising the arrangements;
 - Procedures for dealing with local investigations; and
 - Such other provisions and procedures as may be required.
 - (ii) To establish and maintain Assessment and Hearings Sub-Committees.
- (g) To grant dispensations under S.33 Localism Act 2011.

- (h) To conduct Hearings and make determinations in respect of complaints that elected and co-opted Members have breached the Members' Code of Conduct in accordance with relevant statutory and Constitutional requirements and in connection with this function:
 - (i) To develop and adopt procedures for dealing with such Hearings; and
 - (ii) To establish and maintain a **Hearings Sub-Committee** with its own terms of reference.
- (i) To undertake the functions set out above in respect of [insert names of parish councils if any].
- (j) To approve proposed amendments to the Constitution of the Council except those approved by the Monitoring Officer under the provisions of Article 12 of this document.

Note: The procedures for dealing with Complaints against Members alleging a breach of the Members' Code of Conduct are set out in **Part 4(i)** of the Constitution.

[NB insert extra functions as agreed]

Article 10 – Area Committees and Forums

10.01 The Council may appoint area committees as it sees fit, if it is satisfied that to do so will ensure improved service delivery in the context of best value and more efficient, transparent and accountable decision making.

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

10.012 Conflicts of interest – membership of area committees and overview and scrutiny committees

- (a) **Conflict of interest.** If an overview and scrutiny committee is scrutinising specific decisions or proposals in relation to the business of the area committee of which the councillor concerned is a member, then the councillor may not speak or vote at the overview and scrutiny committee meeting unless a dispensation to do so is given by the Standards Committee.
- (b) **General policy reviews.** Where the overview and scrutiny committee is reviewing policy generally the member must declare his/her interest before the relevant agenda item is reached, but need not withdraw.

10.023 Area Committees – access to information

Area committees will comply with the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.

Agendas and notices for area committee meetings which deal with both functions of the Cabinet and functions which are not the responsibility of the Cabinet will state clearly which items are which.

10.034 Cabinet members on area committees

A member of the Cabinet ~~[other than the council manager]~~ may serve on an area committee if otherwise eligible to do so as a councillor.

Article 11 – Joint Arrangements

11.01 Arrangements to promote well being

The Council or the Cabinet, in order to promote the economic, social or environmental well-being of its area, may:

- (a) enter into arrangements or agreements with any person or body;
- (b) co-operate with, or facilitate or co-ordinate the activities of, any person or body; and
- (c) exercise on behalf of that person or body any functions of that person or body.

11.02 Joint arrangements

- (a) The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or more local authorities and/or their executives to exercise functions which are not executive functions in any of the participating authorities, or advise the Council. [Such arrangements may involve the appointment of a joint committee with these other local authorities].
- (b) The Cabinet may establish joint arrangements with one or more local authorities to exercise functions which are executive functions. Such arrangements may involve the appointment of joint committees with these other local authorities.
- (c) Except as set out below, the Cabinet may only appoint Cabinet members to a joint committee and those members need not reflect the political composition of the local authority as a whole.
- (d) The Cabinet may appoint members to a joint Committee from outside the Cabinet in the following circumstances:
 - the joint committee has functions for only part of the area of the authority, and that area is smaller than two-fifths of the authority by area or population. In such cases, the Cabinet executive may appoint to the joint committee any councillor who is a member for a ward which is wholly or partly contained within the area;
 - the joint committee is between a county Council and a single district Council and relates to functions of the executive of the county council. In such cases, the executive of the county council may appoint to the joint committee any councillor who is a member for an electoral division which is wholly or partly contained within the area.

In both of these cases the political balance requirements do not apply to such appointments.

- (e) Details of any joint arrangements including any delegations to joint committees will be found in the Council's scheme of delegations in Part 3 of this Constitution.

11.03 Access to information

- (a) The Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution apply.
- (b) If all the members of a joint Committee are members of the Executive in each of the participating authorities then its access to information regime is the same as that applied to the executive.
- (c) If the joint committee contains members who are not on the executive of any participating authority then the access to information rules in Part VA of the Local Government Act 1972 will apply.

11.04 Delegation to and from other local authorities

- (a) The Council may delegate non-executive functions to another local authority or, in certain circumstances, the executive of another local authority.
- (b) The Cabinet may delegate executive functions to another local authority or the Cabinet of another local authority in certain circumstances.
- (c) The decision whether or not to accept such a delegation from another local authority shall be reserved to the Council meeting.

11.05 Contracting out

The Council for functions which are not executive functions and the Cabinet may contract out to another body or organisation functions which may be exercised by an officer and which are subject to an order under section 70 of the Deregulation and Contracting Out Act 1994, or under contracting arrangements where the contractor acts as the Council's agent under usual contracting principles, provided there is no delegation of the Council's discretionary decision making.

Article 12 – Officers

12.01 Management structure

- (a) **General.** The full Council may engage such staff (referred to as officers) as it considers necessary to carry out its functions.
- (b) **Chief Officers.** The full Council will engage persons for the following posts, who will be designated chief officers:

The full Council may delegate these functions to another body or officer.

Post	Functions and Areas of Responsibility
Chief Executive (and Head of Paid Service)	Overall corporate management and operational responsibility (including overall management responsibility for all officers). Executive Support Unit.
Director of Resources	Finance, Communications, Policy and Business Planning
Director of Community Services	Safer Neighbourhoods, Built Environment, Economic Development and Asset Management, Housing Services
Director of Operational Services	Open Spaces, Street Cleansing, Waste and Recycling, Civil Enforcement, Street Scene Enforcement, Technical Services, Crematorium & Cemeteries, Maritime and Harbours
Director of Corporate Governance	Legal, Democratic Services, Elections, Information Management

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Left

- (c) Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer. The Council will designate the following posts as shown:

Post	Designation
Chief Executive	Head of Paid Service
Legal Services Manager Director of Corporate Governance Monitoring Officer	Monitoring Officer
Director of Corporate Services	Chief Finance Officer

Such posts will have the functions described in Article 12.02–12.04 below.

The roles of these posts are underpinned by the fundamental principles of political neutrality and service to the whole Council.

- (d) **Structure.** The Head of Paid Service will determine and publicise a description of the overall departmental structure of the Council showing the management structure and deployment of officers. This is set out at Part 7 of this Constitution.
- (e) **Accountability.** Within the fundamental principles of political neutrality and service to the whole Council, the Head of Paid Service shall report to the Leader of the Council concerning the efficient and effective implementation of the Council's policies. The Chief Finance Officer shall similarly report to the Head of Paid Service. They shall both ensure that other Cabinet Members are appropriately briefed regarding matters relevant to their individual portfolio areas.

12.02 Functions of the Head of Paid Service

- (a) **Discharge of functions by the Council.** The Head of Paid Service will report to full Council on the manner in which the discharge of the Council's functions is co-ordinated, the number and grade of officers required for the discharge of functions and the organisation of officers.
- (b) **Restrictions on functions.** The Head of Paid Service may not be the Monitoring Officer but may hold the post of Chief Finance Officer if a qualified accountant.

12.03 Functions of the Monitoring Officer

- (a) **Maintaining the Constitution.** The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-to-date version of the Constitution and will ensure that it is widely available for consultation by members, staff and the public.
- (b) **Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision making in accordance with the powers and duties contained in the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.** After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and Chief Finance Officer, the Monitoring Officer will report to the full Council or to the Cabinet in relation to an Executive function if he/she considers that any proposal, decision or omission would give rise to unlawfulness or if any decision or omission has given rise to maladministration.

Such a report will have the effect of stopping the proposal or decision being implemented until the report has been considered.
- (c) **Supporting the Standards Committee.** The Monitoring Officer will contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high standards of conduct through provision of support to the Standards Committee.

~~(e)~~
(ed) **Conducting investigations.** The Monitoring Officer will conduct or commission investigations into complaints about the conduct of members and make reports or recommendations in respect of them to the Standards Committee.

~~(f)~~
(fe) **Proper officer for access to information.** The Monitoring Officer will ensure that Cabinet decisions, together with the reasons for those decisions and relevant officer reports and background papers are made publicly available as soon as possible in accordance with this Constitution.

~~(g)~~
(gf) **Advising whether Cabinet decisions are within the budget and policy framework.** The Monitoring Officer will advise whether decisions of the Cabinet are in accordance with the budget and policy framework.

~~(h)~~
(hg) **Providing advice.** The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and budget and policy framework issues to all Councillors.

~~(i)~~
(ih) **Restrictions on posts.** The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief Finance Officer or the Head of Paid Service.

12.04 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer ("Section 151 Officer")

- (a) Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision making in accordance with the powers and duties contained in the Local Government Act 1972 and the Local Government Finance Act 1988. After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Finance Officer will report to the full Council or to the Cabinet in relation to an Executive function and the Council's external auditor if he/she considers that any proposal, decision or course of action will involve incurring unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency or if the Council is about to enter an item of account unlawfully.

- (b) **Administration of financial affairs.** The Chief Finance Officer will have responsibility for the administration of the financial affairs of the Council.
- (c) **Contributing to corporate management.** The Chief Finance Officer will contribute to the corporate management of the Council, in particular through the provision of professional financial advice.
- (d) **Providing advice.** The Chief Finance Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and budget and policy framework issues to all Councillors ~~and any elected Mayor of the Council~~ and will support and advise Councillors and officers in their respective roles.
- (e) **Give financial information.** The Chief Finance Officer will provide financial information to the media, members of the public and the community.

12.05 Duty to provide sufficient resources to the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer

The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer with such officers, accommodation and other resources as are in their opinion sufficient to allow their duties to be performed.

12.06 Conduct

Officers will comply with the Officers' Code of Conduct and the Protocol on Officer/Member Relations set out in Part 5 of this Constitution.

12.07 Employment

The recruitment, selection and dismissal of officers will comply with the Officer Employment Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

Reference:

Chapter 8, DLTR Guidance

[See further:-

On "Management Structure", see Part 7 (and Appendix of Property Officer Functions).]

Article 13 – Decision Making

13.01 Responsibility for decision making

The Council will issue and keep up to date a record of what part of the Council or individual has responsibility for particular types of decisions or decisions relating to particular areas or functions. This record is set out in Part 3 of this Constitution.

13.02 Principles of decision making

All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles:

- (a) the presumption in favour of openness and transparency;
- (b) the need for due consultation ~~with interested parties~~;
- (c) the need to take account of relevant professional advice from appropriate staff;
- (d) the need for clarity of aims and desired outcomes;
- (e) the need to identify the range of options considered.
- (f) the need to give reasons and explanation for a decision.

13.03 Types of decision

- (a) Decisions reserved to full Council. Decisions relating to the functions listed in Article 4.02 will be made by the full Council and not delegated.
- (b) Key decisions.
 - (i) *Councils should insert into this part of the Constitution the definition of key decisions contained in regulations. Sourced example from another council*
 - (i) A key decision which must be included in the Forward Plan is an Executive decision which is likely:
 - (a) to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council's budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (the Council has decided that any decision involving expenditure in excess of £250,000, excluding any decisions relating to investment of Council monies as part of Treasury Management procedures, will be a key decision); or
 - (b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more electoral wards in
 - (ii) A decision taker may only make a key decision in accordance with the requirements of the Executive Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

13.04 Decision making by the full Council

Subject to Article 13.08, the Council meeting will follow the Council Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter.

13.05 Decision making by the Cabinet

Subject to Article 13.08, the Cabinet will follow the Cabinet Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter.

13.06 Decision making by overview and scrutiny committees

Overview and scrutiny committees will follow the Overview and Scrutiny Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter.

13.07 Decision making by other committees and sub-committees established by the Council

Subject to Article 13.08, other Council committees and sub-committees will follow those parts of the Council Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution as apply to them.

13.08 Decision making by Council bodies acting as tribunals

The Council, a councillor or an officer acting as a tribunal or in a quasi-judicial manner or determining/considering (other than for the purposes of giving advice) the civil rights and obligations or the criminal responsibility of any person will follow a proper procedure which accords with the requirements of natural justice and the right to a fair trial contained in Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights.

Article 14 – Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters

14.01 Financial management

The management of the Council's financial affairs will be conducted in accordance with the financial rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

14.02 Contracts

Every contract made by the Council will comply with the Contracts Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

14.03 Legal proceedings

The Legal Services Manager is authorised to institute, defend or participate in any legal proceedings in any case where such action is necessary to give effect to decisions of the Council or in any case where they consider that such action is necessary to protect the Council's interests. Legal proceedings may also be taken by or on behalf of the Director of Customer Services and Business Transformation pertaining to revenues and/or benefit matters in accordance with the delegated powers contained in Part 3 of this Constitution.

14.04 Authentication of documents

Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or proceedings on behalf of the Council, it will be signed by the Legal Services Manager or other person authorised by him/her, unless any enactment otherwise authorises or requires, or the Council has given requisite authority to some other person.

Any contract with a value exceeding £[x – councils should insert an amount here appropriate to local circumstances] entered into on behalf of the local authority in the course of the discharge of an executive function shall be made in writing. Such contracts must either be signed by at least two officers of the authority or made under the common seal of the council attested by at least one officer.

14.05 Common Seal of the Council

The Common Seal of the Council will be kept in a safe place in the custody of ~~the Legal Services Manager, Monitoring Officer~~ **Director of Corporate Governance**. A decision of the Council, or of any part of it, will be sufficient authority for sealing any document necessary to give effect to the decision. The Common Seal will be affixed to those documents which in the opinion of the Legal Services Officer, Monitoring Officer should be sealed. The affixing of the Common Seal will be attested by a Member of the Council and one of the said officers or some other person authorised by him/her. An entry of every sealing of a document shall be made and consecutively numbered in a book to be provided for the purpose and shall be signed by a person who has attested the seal.

Article 15 – Review and Revision of the Constitution

15.01 Duty to monitor and review the constitution

The Monitoring Officer will monitor and review the operation of the Constitution to ensure that the aims and principles of the Constitution are given full effect.

In undertaking this task the monitoring officer may:

1. observe meetings of different parts of the member and officer structure;
2. undertake an audit trail of a sample of decisions;
3. record and analyse issues raised with him/her by members, officers, the public and other relevant stakeholders; and
4. compare practices in this authority with those in other comparable authorities, or national examples of best practice.

15.02 Changes to the Constitution

- (a) **Approval.** Changes to the constitution will only be approved by the full Council after consideration of the proposal by Standards Committee. ~~[to be determined]~~
Such proposals to be formulated by the Constitutional Review Working Group.
- (b) The Monitoring Officer ~~[in~~ consultation with the Chief Executive and the group leaders~~]~~ shall have the power to make minor amendments to the Constitution to correct errors or to comply with any legal requirement or to reflect changes in the Council's structure.
- (c) **Change from a mayoral form of executive to another form of executive or to alternative arrangements, or from alternative arrangements to a mayoral form of executive.** The Council must take reasonable steps to consult with local electors and other interested persons in the area when drawing up proposals and must hold a binding referendum. The change will not take effect until the end of the mayor's term of office.
- (d) **Change from a leader and cabinet form of executive to alternative arrangements, or vice versa.** The Council must take reasonable steps to consult with local electors and other interested persons in the area when drawing up proposals.

Article 16 – Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the Constitution

16.01 Suspension of the Constitution

- (a) **Limit to suspension.** The Articles of this Constitution may not be suspended. The Rules specified below may be suspended to the extent permitted within those Rules and the law.
- (b) **Procedure to suspend.** A motion to suspend any rules will not be moved without notice unless more than one half of the whole number of councillors are present. The extent and duration of suspension will be proportionate to the result to be achieved, taking account of the purposes of the Constitution set out in Article 1.
- (c) **Rules capable of suspension.** The following Rules may be suspended in accordance with Article 16.01:
 - Council Procedure Rules
 - Access to Information Procedure Rules
 - Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules
 - Cabinet Procedure Rules
 - Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
 - Financial Procedure Rules
 - Contract Standing Orders
 - Officer Employment Procedure Rules

16.02 Interpretation

The ruling of the chairman of council as to the construction or application of this Constitution or as to any proceedings of the Council shall not be challenged at any meeting of the Council. Such interpretation will have regard to the purposes of this Constitution contained in Article 1.

16.03 Publication

- (a) The Democratic Services and Scrutiny Manager will give a printed copy of this Constitution to each member of the authority upon delivery to him/her of that individual's declaration of acceptance of office on the member first being elected to the Council.
- (b) The Democratic Services and Scrutiny Manager will ensure that copies are available for inspection at Council offices, libraries and other appropriate locations, and can be purchased by members of the local press and the public on payment of a reasonable fee.
- (c) The Democratic Services and Scrutiny Manager will ensure that the summary of the Constitution is made widely available within the area and is updated as necessary.

Schedule 1: Description of Executive Arrangements

The following parts of this Constitution constitute the Executive arrangements:

Comment [sh5]: Check numbering before completion.

1. Article 6 (Overview and Scrutiny Committees) and the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules;
2. Article 7 (The Cabinet) and the Cabinet Procedure Rules;
3. Article 10 (Area Committees and Forums) (where applicable);
4. Article 11 (Joint arrangements) (where applicable);
5. Article 13 (Decision making) and the Access to Information Procedure Rules;
6. Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions).

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure

Council Procedure Rules

1. Meetings of the Council

1.1 Types of Council meeting

There may be three types of Council meeting

(a) ~~(a)~~ The annual meeting

(b) Ordinary meetings

(c) Extraordinary meetings

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: a, b, c, ... + Start at:
1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 1.25
cm + Indent at: 2.76 cm

Formatted: Font: (Default) Calibri

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left: 0
cm, First line: 0 cm

1.2 Annual meeting of the Council

The Council shall hold an annual meeting in the year of ordinary election of members not earlier than the eighth day and not later than the twenty first day of the date of retirement of Members

In any one year when there are no elections to the Council, the annual meeting will be held on a date in May to be fixed by the Council.

1.3 Extraordinary meetings

Those listed below may require The Proper Officer (who for this purpose shall be [to be completed]) to call Council meetings in addition to ordinary meetings

(a) the Council by resolution or

(b) the Chairman of the Council or

(c) a Statutory Officer of the authority or

(d) any five members may together call the meeting and the Chief Executive shall make arrangements accordingly provided they have signed a ~~requisition~~ ~~specifying~~ ~~specifying~~ the business to be considered at the meeting and presented the ~~requisition~~ ~~requisition~~ to the Chairman and they have refused to call a meeting or failed within seven days of the presentation to call a meeting.

1.0 Annual Meeting of the Council

1.1 Timing and business

2. Agenda

2.1 Agenda for Annual Meeting

~~In a year when there is an ordinary election of Councillors, the annual meeting will take place on a Thursday within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing Councillors. In any other year, the annual meeting will take place in March, April or May.~~

The annual meeting will consider the following:-

- (i) elect a person to preside if the Chairman of Council is not present;
- (ii) elect the Chairman of Council;
- (iii) elect the Vice-Chairman of Council;
- (iv) approve the minutes of the last meeting;
- (v) receive any declarations of interest from members; and
- (vi) receive any announcements from the Chairman and/or Chief Executive / Head of the Paid Service;
- (vii) in the year of an ordinary election of Councillors, elect the Leader of the Council for a term of office ending on the date of the Annual Meeting of Council in the year of the next ordinary election of Councillors. (A casual vacancy in the office of Leader of the Council shall be filled for the remainder of the term of office at the next Ordinary Meeting of Council after the vacancy has arisen);
- (viii)(vii) in the year of an ordinary election of Councillors receive from the Leader notification of the councillor appointed as Deputy Leader to act in his or her absence;
- (ix)(viii) receive from the Leader notification of the number and names of Councillors who together with the Leader and Deputy Leader will comprise the Cabinet for the ensuing Council year together with the details of the portfolio responsibilities allocated to each of them;
- ix) appoint at least one Overview and Scrutiny Committee, a Standards Committee and such other Committees as the Council considers appropriate to deal with matters which are neither reserved to the Council nor are Executive functions (as set out in Part 3 of this Constitution);
- (xi) agree the scheme of delegation or such part of it as the Constitution determines it is for the Council to agree (as set out in Part 3 of this Constitution);
- (xii) approve a programme of ordinary meetings of the Council for the year;
- (xiii) consider any business set out in the notice convening the meeting.

[\[Note: Approve the Member Allowances Scheme?\]](#)

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Indent: Left: 1.27 cm,
Hanging: 1.27 cm, Space After: 10 pt,
No bullets or numbering,
Widow/Orphan control, Hyphenate

2.02.2 Agenda for Ordinary Meetings

2.1 Order of Business

Ordinary meetings of the Council shall commence at 7.00 pm unless otherwise agreed with the Chairman and will take place on a Thursday in accordance with a programme decided at the Council's annual meeting. Subject to rule ~~2.52.7~~, ordinary meetings will:

- (i) elect a person to preside if the Chairman and Vice Chairman are not present;
- (ii) deal with any business required by statute to be done before any other business;
- (iii) approve the minutes of the last meeting;
- (iv) receive any announcements from the Chairman, Leader, members of the Cabinet or the ~~Chief Executive Head of Paid Service~~;
- (v) receive any declarations of interest from members;
- (vi) receive petitions from the public;
- (vii) receive questions from, and provide answers to, the public in relation to matters which in the opinion of the person presiding at the meeting are relevant to the business of the meeting; ~~[Pursuant to Rule?]~~
- ~~(viii) deal with any business from the last Council meeting;~~
- (i) receive reports from the Cabinet Leader, Members of the Cabinet and the Council's Committees etc.

Except for items under (i), (ii) or (iii) of Rule 2.42 the order of business may be varied at the Chairman's discretion or by a resolution passed on a motion that has been moved and seconded which shall be put without discussion.

2.3 Agenda for Extraordinary Meetings

Business at extraordinary meetings of the Council shall be restricted to the following:

- (a) to appoint a Member to preside at the meeting if neither the ~~Chairman~~ ~~Mayer~~ nor the Deputy ~~Mayer~~ ~~Chairman~~ are present and able to preside;
- (b) to receive apologies for absence from Members;
- (c) to receive any declarations of interest from Members and Officers;
- (d) to consider any business set out in the notice ~~con~~vening the meeting;
- (e) to consider any matter which, by reason of special circumstances to be specified in the minutes of the meeting, the ~~Mayer~~ ~~Chairman~~ considers should be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency.

No other business will be transacted.

2.22.4 Leaders Report

The Leader of the Council may make an oral report, not exceeding ten minutes, on key issues arising since the last meeting of Council.

The Leaders of any other ~~p~~Political ~~g~~Group may comment on the Leader's report. The comments of the Leaders of the other ~~p~~Political ~~g~~Groups shall be limited each to five minutes. The other Group Leaders will comment in an order determined by the number of ~~Councillors~~ ~~Councilors~~ within those ~~p~~Political ~~g~~Groups, with the largest ~~g~~Group commenting first, and so on.

The Leader has a right of reply to each Group Leader limited to two minutes, in hierarchical order, to any comments made on his/her report.

The Leader of the Council, the Leader of the Opposition and the Leader of any other ~~p~~Political ~~g~~Group may appoint substitutes to speak on their behalf.

No motions may be moved nor resolutions passed under this item.

2.32.5 Related Items

The Chairman shall also have discretion to decide that related items of business may be dealt with in accordance with such procedure as the Chairman shall consider is most conducive to the despatch of business.

2.42.6 Application to Committees

The Chairman of any Committee or Sub-Committee shall have the discretion to vary the order of business and decide on related items of business in accordance with such procedure as the Chairman shall consider is most conducive to the despatch of business.

2.52.7 Budget-setting meetings of the Council

~~With the exception of~~ Apart from the essential items of apologies for absence, minutes of previous meeting and declarations of interest, the only items that will be considered at budget-setting meetings of the Council will be the budget and associated items, subject to the Chairman of Council having discretion to accept additional items; but only in exceptional or urgent circumstances.

Formatted: Font: Arial

3. Motions and Amendments.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

~~3.1 Any one or more Members of the Council may by notice received by the appropriate person no later than 10:00am, 11 working days before the day of the Council meeting, require the Council to consider a motion about a matter relating to which the Council has powers or duties or which affects the Council's area. A notice of motion may be accompanied by a statement of not more than 200 words setting out the reason for the proposed motion.~~

~~3.2 A notice of motion may be in more than one part and contain more than one recommendation but must all relate to the same subject matter.~~

~~3.3 The Monitoring Officer may reject a notice of motion if in their opinion:~~

- ~~a. It does not comply with the requirements of this rule.~~
- ~~b. The notice of motion is defamatory of individual, offensive or otherwise infringes the proper conduct of local government.~~
- ~~c. The recommendation in the notice of motion would be illegal.~~

~~3.4 Where the Monitoring Officer rejects a notice of motion, they shall inform the Member who submitted the notice as soon as practicable prior to the publication of the agenda and shall not include the rejected notice of motion in the public record or agenda.~~

~~3.5 The Monitoring Officer shall record all such notices of motion (not including rejected notice) in the order in which they are received and such record shall be open to public inspection on request.~~

~~3.6 The Monitoring Officer shall include all notices of motion and accompanying statements in the agenda for the next relevant meeting of Council in the order received save that:~~

- ~~(a) Where two or more notices of motion are received from a particular Member for the same meeting, that Member's second notice of motion shall be included after all other Member's first notices of motion, that Member's third notice of motion shall be included after all other Member's second notices of motion and so on.~~

~~(b) Where they consider that the notice of motion, statement or consideration of a notice of motion is likely to result in disclosure of confidential exempt information, in which case they may group such notices of a motion together with other items of business which are in their opinion likely to involve the exclusion of press and public during their consideration.~~

~~3.7 The Council should not debate any motion which would give rise to a significant change to income of the Council, to its expenditure or contract terms, unless it has received a report from the Chief Finance Officer or the Monitoring Officer as appropriate setting out the legal or financial effect of the motion.~~

~~3.8 Where a Member submits a notice of motion which would require accompanying report under Rule ??, they shall at the same time provide the Chief Finance Officer and/or the Monitoring Officer with sufficient supporting information to enable them to prepare such an accompanying report.~~

~~3.9 Where a motion which would require an accompanying report under Rule ??? falls to be moved without such an accompanying report being made available to all Members of Council, the motion should stand adjourned without debate to the next available meeting of Council.~~

~~3.10 There will be no time limit for moving and debating motions on notice.~~

~~3.11 If any matter arises at a meeting to which the Local Government Act 1972 applies by virtue of Section 100(A)(2) as to the appointment, promotion, dismissal, salary, superannuation, or conditions of service or as to the conduct of any person employed by the Council, such matters shall not be the subject of discussion until the Council or Committee as case may be, has decided whether or not the power to exclude the public under Section 100(A)(2) of the Local Government Act 1972 shall be exercised.~~

~~3.12 A motion or amendment to rescind, or which has the effect of rescinding, a decision made at a meeting of Council within the past six months, may not be moved except in accordance with Rules 8.3.17 and 18 (below) unless upon a recommendation from the Finance and Resources Committee for a variation of the approved Budget or Policy Framework, or where the Monitoring Officer confirms that it is appropriate for the Council to reconsider the matter to comply with law, as a result of a change of law or material change of circumstances.~~

~~3.13 A motion or amendment in similar terms to one that has been rejected at a meeting of Council in the past six months cannot be moved except in accordance with Rules 8.3.17 and 18 (below) unless upon a recommendation from the Finance and Resources Committee for a variation of the approved Budget or Policy Framework, or where the Monitoring Officer confirms that it is appropriate for the Council to reconsider the matter to comply with law, as a result of a change of law or material change of circumstances.~~

~~Amendments~~

~~3.14 Subject to Rule 3.3 notice of an amendment to a recommendation or motion on the agenda for a Council meeting may be given by two members to the Monitoring Officer up to 12 noon on the day of Council. Only motions which can be moved without notice or amendments to recommendations arising from Officers' reports will be accepted without notice.~~

~~3.15 No amendment shall be considered with regard to the recommendation of the Finance and Resources Committee for the setting of the Council's budget unless notice of the amendment has been given by two members to the Monitoring Officer by 10:00am five working days before the date of the meeting.~~

3. Motions and Amendments,

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt

Motions on Notice

3.1 Any one or more Members of the Council may by notice received by the appropriate person no later than 10:00am, 11 working days before the day of the Council meeting; require the Council to consider a motion.

3.2 The Monitoring Officer shall record all such notices of motion (not including rejected notice) in the order in which they are received and such record shall be open to public inspection on request.

3.3 The Monitoring Officer shall include all notices of motion and accompanying statements in the agenda for the next relevant meeting of Council in the order received unless the member giving notice states, in writing, that they propose to move it to a later meeting or withdraw it save that

3.4 Where they consider that the notice of motion, statement or consideration of a notice of motion is likely to result in disclosure of confidential exempt information, in which case they may group such notices of a motion together with other items of business which are in their opinion likely to involve the exclusion of press and public during their consideration.

3.5 There will be a thirty minute time limit for moving and debating motions on notice.

Amendments

3.6 Subject to Rule 3.9 notice of an amendment to a recommendation or motion on the agenda for a Council meeting may be given by two members to the Monitoring Officer up to 12 noon on the day of Council. Only motions which can be moved without notice or amendments to recommendations arising from Officers' reports will be accepted without notice.

Putting the Motion at the Meeting

3.7 The Member whose name appears first on the Notice will move the motion during his or her speech and call for a seconder. If seconded, a Member from the controlling political group will be entitled to a reply, the motion shall then stand referred without further discussion to the Cabinet or appropriate Committee for determination or report unless the Council decides to debate the motion in accordance with Rule16.

Scope

3.8 (a) Motions must:

- i. Motions must be about matters for which the Council has a responsibility or which affect the district.

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt

ii. Motions must not relate to the ethical conduct of individual Members of Council unless the conduct relates to the Member acting as a member of the Council.

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt

iii. Motions must be expressed in such a form that it shall conform with the requirements of the Council Procedure Rules and be competent for the Council if it so desires to pass it as a lawful and valid resolution. If it is not so expressed the Chairman shall rule it out of order.

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt

iv. Where a motion on notice would, if adopted, constitute the exercise of an executive function, that motion must be referred to the Cabinet (or relevant Cabinet portfolio holder as appropriate) for decision;

v. The Chairman shall rule out of order any motion on notice that relates to the adoption of, or amendment to, a policy falling within the Council's adopted Policy Framework if that policy or amendment (as the case may be) has not first been proposed by the Cabinet and considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Panel;

vi. The Chairman shall rule out of order any motion on notice that proposes the adoption of, or amendment to, any policy outside the adopted Policy Framework which by law or this Constitution is the sole responsibility of the Cabinet;

vii. Any motion on notice that proposes the adoption of a policy or the taking of a decision where Council has not received a report from the officers setting out the technical, legal and financial implications of adopting the policy or taking the decision in question shall only be debated. Following the conclusion of the debate, the only action that may be taken is to refer the motion to Cabinet for consideration.

viii. The Council should not debate any motion which would give rise to a significant change to income of the Council, to its expenditure or contract terms, unless it has received a report from the Chief Finance Officer or the Monitoring Officer as appropriate setting out the legal or financial effect of the motion.

ix. If any matter arises at a meeting to which the Local Government Act 1972 applies by virtue of Section 100(A)(2) as to the appointment, promotion, dismissal, salary, superannuation, or conditions of service or as to the conduct of any person employed by the Council, such matters shall not be the subject of discussion until the Council or Committee as case may be, has decided whether or not the power to exclude the public under Section 100(A)(2) of the Local Government Act 1972 shall be exercised.

x. A motion or amendment to rescind, or which has the effect of rescinding, a decision made at a meeting of Council within the past six months, may not be moved except in accordance with Rules 8.3.17 and 18 (below) unless the Monitoring Officer confirms that it is appropriate for the Council to reconsider the matter to comply with law, as a result of a change of law or material change of circumstances.

xi. A motion or amendment in similar terms to one that has been rejected at a meeting of Council in the past six months cannot be moved except in accordance with Rules 8.3.17 and 18 (below) unless the Monitoring Officer confirms that it is appropriate for the Council to reconsider the matter to comply with law, as a result of a change of law or material change of circumstances.

(b) No Member shall subscribe to more than two notices of motion on an agenda at the same time.

(c) Motions submitted to Committees must be in the name of a member of the Committee.

Rejecting Motions on Notice

3.9 The Chairman of Council may rule out of order Motions on Notice that in his opinion:

a) are defamatory in nature;

b) are frivolous in nature; or

c) contain offensive language.

where the Chairman rejects a notice of motion, they shall inform the Member who submitted the notice as soon as practicable prior to the publication of the agenda and shall not include the rejected notice of motion in the public record or agenda.

~~3.0 — Extraordinary Meetings~~

~~3.1 — Calling extraordinary meetings~~

~~Those listed below may request the proper officer to call Council meetings in addition to ordinary meetings:~~

~~(i) the Council by resolution;~~

~~(ii) the Chairman of the Council;~~

~~(iii) the Monitoring Officer; and~~

~~(iv) any five members of the Council if they have signed a requisition presented to the Chairman of the Council and he/she has refused to call a meeting or has failed to call a meeting within seven days of the presentation of the requisition.~~

~~3.2 — Business~~

~~No matter shall be dealt with at any extraordinary meeting of the Council other than that specified in the request or requests received by the proper officer under Rule 3.1 for the meeting in question.~~

~~3.3 — Timing~~

~~Extraordinary meetings shall be held on such dates and at such times as the proper officer may determine after consultation with the Chairman of the Council.~~

~~4.0~~4.0 Committees and Sub-Committees

4.134.1 Functions

Every Committee and Sub-Committee shall continue to discharge the functions delegated to them until the Council or relevant Committee resolve otherwise.

4.234.2 Recommending Delegated Powers

A Committee or Sub-Committee may decide to recommend any matter (for which it has been given delegated powers) to the Council or its parent Committee as the case may be.

4.334.3 Duration of Appointment

Subject to Section 102(5) of the Local Government Act 1972, (Councillor not re-elected to cease to be a member of a Committee) and paragraph ~~4.5-3.5~~ below, every person appointed as a member of a Committee shall continue as such until the appointment is terminated by the Authority. This Rule shall also apply to Sub-Committees and Working Parties.

4.434.4 Political Balance

- (i) Whenever:
 - (a) the Council, resolves or is required to review the allocation of seats between political groups, or
 - (b) a Committee resolves or is required to review the allocation of seats on a Sub-Committee between political groups

the Proper Officer shall submit a report to the Council, the Cabinet or Committee (as the case may be), showing what allocation of seats would meet the requirements of Section 15(4) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.

- (ii) In the light of such a report, the Council or relevant Committee shall determine the allocation of seats to political groups.

4.534.5 Allocation of Seats to Political Groups

Whenever an appointment of a member of a Committee or Sub-Committee falls to be made in accordance with the wishes of a political group to whom the seat has been allocated, and whenever such an appointment falls to be determined in accordance with such wishes, then the Council or relevant Committee at a meeting at which the wishes of the political group are expressed, or at the next meeting after those wishes are expressed, shall endorse those wishes accordingly.

4.634.6 Appointment of Sub-Committees and Working Parties

Subject to any resolutions by the Council, every Committee may appoint Sub-Committees or Working Parties for such purposes as they think fit within the remit of the responsibilities of the Committee, and may make arrangements for a Sub-Committee to discharge any of the functions for the authority which the Committee may discharge.

4.734.7 Parent Committees

Every Member, except co-opted members, of a Sub-Committee shall be a Member of its Parent Committee.

5.045.0 Appointment of Substitute Members of Committees, Sub-Committees and Working Parties

5.145.1 Allocation

The Council will appoint as substitute members of Committees and Sub-Committees those members nominated by each political group. Political groups may nominate every other member of the group provided that neither the Chairman nor Vice-Chairman of Council nor any member of the Cabinet shall be eligible to be a substitute member at any Committee or Sub-Committee on which either the Chairman or Vice-Chairman or a member of the Cabinet may not sit.

5.245.2 Powers and duties

Substitute members will have all the powers and duties of any ordinary member of the Committee but will not be able to exercise any special powers or duties exercisable by the person they are substituting.

5.345.3 Substitution

- (i) It shall be the duty of Groups themselves to arrange for the attendance of substitute Members. As far as committees and sub-committees to which political balance rules apply, the substitute Member appointed shall be a member of the same political group as the Member being substituted.
- (ii) The Member Services Officer must be notified of the attendance of a substitute member before the commencement of any item of business.
- (iii) If a substitute Member is present at any meeting and the appointed Member subsequently attends during the course of the proceedings, the substitute Member shall withdraw from taking any further part in the meeting at the conclusion of the item under discussion.
- (iv) No substitute Member should be eligible to Chair a meeting if an appointed Member of the Committee or Board is present and willing to take the Chair.
- (v) In relation to the determination of any applications made under the Licensing Act 2003, no Member shall be eligible to be a substitute on the Licensing Board or on a sub-committee established by it.

5.445.4 Working Parties

These rules shall also apply to Working Parties.

6.056.0 Election of Chairman and Vice-Chairman of Committees

6.156.1 Appointment of Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen

Subject to Rules 6.256.2 and 6.356.3, the Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of Committees shall be appointed by Council at its Annual Meeting.

6.256.2 Sub-Committees, Advisory Groups and Working Parties

All Sub-Committees, Advisory Groups and Working Parties shall elect at their first meeting after the Annual Council Meeting, before proceeding to other business, from amongst their Members a Chairman for the ensuing year, and shall then appoint a Vice-Chairman for the ensuing year.

6.356.3 Appointment of Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of Scrutiny Panels

The Chairman and Vice-Chairman of any panel shall not both be from the same political group. The ruling group will nominate the Chairman of the Policy Development Panel and the Vice-Chairmen of two other Panels of their choice and the largest opposition group should nominate the Chairmen of the Executive Scrutiny Panel and the Finance, Best Value and Performance Review Panel and the Vice-Chairman of the remaining Panel.

In the event of two or more opposition groups having the same number of members the matter shall be decided by a majority of the opposition Members in Council and in the event of default by the Council itself.

6.456.4 Members not eligible to stand for election

- (i) The Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Council shall not be eligible for election as Chairman or Vice-Chairman of a Standing Committee, Sub-Committee or Working Party.
- (ii) No Member shall be Chairman of more than one Standing Committee.

6.556.5 Vacancies

A casual vacancy in the Office of Chairman or Vice-Chairman of a Committee, Sub-Committee, Advisory Group or Working Party shall be filled as soon as practicable and by the relevant Committee.

7.067.0 Time and Place of Meetings

7.167.1 Timings of Committee Meetings

Committee	Meeting time
Council	7.00 pm
Cabinet	7.00 pm
Governance and Audit Committee	7.00 pm
Joint Transportation Board	7.00 pm
Overview and Scrutiny Panel	7.00 pm
Planning Committee	7.00 pm
Standards Committee	7.00 pm
Licensing Board	10.00 am
Constitutional Review Working Party	Ad hoc
General Purposes Committee	Ad hoc

Licensing Sub Committee	Ad hoc
Overview and Scrutiny Working Parties	Ad hoc

The time and place of meetings will be determined by the Democratic Services and Scrutiny Manager and notified in the summons. The following guidelines will apply:

- (i) The days of the week shall be utilised as follows:-

Tuesdays to - Meetings of Committees, Sub-Committees,

Thursdays Advisory Groups and Working Parties and adjourned, special or additional meetings thereof.

- (ii) The Monday following Council Meetings, or the Tuesday if the Monday is a Bank Holiday, shall be kept clear of meetings to facilitate adjournment of Council to that day.
- (iii) The weeks in which scheduled Council Meetings fall will normally be kept clear of other meetings.
- (iv) The Calendar of Meetings shall generally include a two-week recess at Christmas and no meetings in August.

8.078.0

Notice of and Summons to Meetings

The ~~Democratic Services Manager~~Appropriate Officer will give notice to the public of the time and place of any meeting in accordance with the Access to Information Rules. At least ~~three-five~~ clear days before a meeting, the ~~Democratic Services Manager~~Appropriate Officer will ~~send a summons signed by him or her by post to every member of the Council or leave it at their usual place of residence. The summons will give the date, time and place of each meeting and specify the business to be transacted, and will be accompanied by such reports as are available.~~ give notice to the public of the time and place if any meeting in accordance with the Access to Information Rules. The agenda for a meeting will give the date, time and place of meeting, specify the business to be transacted, and will be accompanied by such reports as are available.

9.089.0

Chair of Meeting

The person presiding at the meeting may exercise any power or duty of the Chairman. Where these rules apply to Committee and Sub-Committee meetings, references to the Chairman also include the Chairman of Committees and Sub-Committees.

~~10.09~~10.0 **Quorum**

The quorum of a meeting will be one quarter of the whole number of members except for meetings of the Scrutiny Committee and Governance and Audit Committee where the quorum shall be one half of the whole number of members. During any meeting if the Chairman counts the number of members present and declares there is not a quorum present, then the meeting will adjourn immediately. Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the Chairman. If he/she does not fix a date, the remaining business will be considered at the next ordinary meeting.

~~11.01~~101.0 **Duration of Meeting**

~~11.1~~101.1 **Adjournment**

Unless it is resolved to complete the item under discussion, meetings shall stand adjourned at 10.30 pm unless in the opinion of a majority of the Members thereof the business remaining to be dealt with can be concluded by 11.30 pm in which case the meeting may continue until 11.30 pm at which time it shall automatically stand adjourned.

~~11.2~~101.2 **Remaining Business**

Consideration of any business not transacted shall be continued on the following Monday evening and thereafter on consecutive evenings at 7.00 pm except where Monday is a Bank Holiday in which case the business shall be continued on the following Tuesday evening and thereafter on consecutive evenings at 7.00 pm.

~~12.01~~12.0 **Petitions from the Public**

~~12.1~~12.1 The Council will receive, accept and deal with petitions from members of the public in accordance with the requirements of any Petitions Scheme from time to time adopted by the Council. The Council's current Petitions Scheme is included in **Part 5** of the Council's constitution.

~~13.01~~123.0 **Questions by the Public and Press**

~~13.1~~123.1 **General**

Members of the public may ask questions of members of the Cabinet at ordinary meetings of the Council. The total time devoted to questions shall not exceed 30 minutes.

13.2 Order of questions

Questions will be asked in the order notice of them was received, except that the Chairman may group together similar questions.

~~13.31~~123.23 **Notice of questions**

A question may only be asked if notice has been given by delivering it in writing or by electronic mail to the ~~Democratic Services Manager~~ Appropriate Person at least five full working days before the day of the meeting. Each question must give the name and

address of the questioner and must name the member of the Council to whom it is to be put.

~~13.41~~123.34 Number of questions

At any one meeting no person may submit more than one question, limited to fifty words.

~~13.51~~123.45 Scope of questions

The Chief Executive will reject a question if it:

- is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility or which affects the district;
- is defamatory, frivolous or offensive;
- is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a meeting of the Council in the past six months;
- requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information;
- If the questioner is not normally a resident of Thanet; or
- If a question relates to an individual planning or licensing application.

~~13.6~~ Record of questions

~~The Democratic Services Manager will enter each question in a book open to public inspection and will immediately send a copy of the question to the member to whom it is to be put. Rejected questions will include reasons for rejection. Copies of all questions will be circulated to all members and will be made available to the public attending the meeting.~~

~~13.71~~123.56 Asking the question at the meeting

The Chairman will invite the questioner to put the question to the member named in the notice. If the questioner is not present the question shall not be put and shall be answered in writing.

~~13.81~~123.67 Absence of Member Named and Written answers

Any question which cannot be dealt with during public question time because of lack of time will be dealt with by a written answer. If the member to whom the question is directed is not present, the question will be answered by the Leader or another Member nominated by the Leader for the purpose unless it is inappropriate for the Leader to give an oral answer or to nominate another Member to give an oral answer, in which case the question will be dealt with by a written answer.

~~14.01~~134.0 Questions by Members

~~14.11~~134.1 On reports of the Cabinet or Committees

A member of the Council may during his or her speech ask the Leader or Chairman of a Committee any question without notice upon an item of the report of the Cabinet or a Committee when that item is being received or under consideration by the Council.

~~134.2~~ The period allowed for reports, written and all questions and answers will not exceed ~~60~~30 minutes without the leave of the Chair and such leave will only be granted in exceptional circumstance.

~~14.2~~134.3 Questions on notice at full Council

Subject to Rule ~~14.4~~13.5, a member of the Council may ask:

- a member of the Cabinet; or
- the Chairman of any Committee or Sub-Committee

a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affects the district.

~~14.3~~134.4 Questions on notice at Committees and Sub-Committees

Subject to Rule ~~14.4~~13.5, a member of a Committee or Sub-Committee may ask the Chairman of it a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affect the district and which falls within the terms of reference of that Committee or Sub-Committee.

~~14.4~~134.5 Notice of questions

A member may only ask a question under Rule ~~14.2-13.3~~ or ~~14.3-13.4~~ if they have given at least five working ~~days notice~~day's notice in writing of the question, limited to fifty words, to the Member Services Manager. No Member shall submit more than one question.

~~14.5~~134.6 Scope of questions

A question shall not be:

- defamatory, frivolous or offensive;
- substantially the same as a question which has been put at a meeting of the Council in the past six months;
- such as to require the disclosure of confidential or exempt information;
- related to an individual planning or licensing application; or
- related to the ethical conduct of individual Members of Council unless the conduct relates to the Member acting as a Member of the Council

~~14.6~~134.7 Response

An answer may take the form of:

- (a) a direct oral answer;
- (b) where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other published work, a reference to that publication; or
- (c) where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written answer circulated within three working days to the questioner.

~~14.7~~134.8 Supplementary question

A member asking a question under Rule ~~14.2-13.3~~ or ~~14.3-13.4~~ may ask one supplementary question without notice of the member to whom the first question was asked. The supplemental question must arise directly out of the original question or the reply.

~~14.8~~134.9 Timing

The questioner shall have two minutes for the initial question and one minute for the supplementary and the respondent shall have five minutes for the initial reply and two minutes for the supplementary.

~~14.9~~**134.10** Written questions

Where a member does not wish to put a question verbally the member may, subject to Rule 14.5, submit a question in writing to the Democratic Services Manager, by 10.00 am on the Friday before a Council meeting, any question to be asked of a member of the Cabinet or the Chairman of any Committee on any matter in relation to which the Council have powers or duties or which affects the District. This rule is subject to the following:

- (i) The number of questions which may be asked by any one Member under this Rule at any one meeting shall be limited to one.
- (ii) There shall be no discussion of any question or answer.
- (iii) Any answer may take the form of:-
- (a) A written answer circulated to Members of the Council at the Council Meeting or as soon as possible thereafter. Provided that where a question cannot be answered at the Council Meeting and in all cases where the member concerned exercises his/her right not to answer under Rule ~~14.9~~**13.10** (vi) the question and an explanation of the member's inability to answer or the reasons for his/her decision not to answer shall be circulated to all Members at the Council Meeting.
- (b) Where the desired information is contained in a publication of the Council, a reference to that publication.
- (iv) All questions and answers shall be recorded in a Register to be maintained by the Democratic Services Manager.
- (v) The member concerned shall have power to decide that a question shall be not answered if he/she is satisfied that the public interest would not be served by it being raised or pursued or on any other ground which he/she may deem sufficient.
- (vi) The Chairman shall not allow any question containing unbecoming language, imputation of improper motives or reflections of a personal character.

~~15.0~~**145.0** Reports from the Cabinet and Committees

~~15.1~~ **General**

~~Any Member wishing to speak on any recommendation of the Cabinet or a Committee to be considered by the Council shall, before 10.00 am on the day of the Council Meeting, notify the Member Services Manager of the number or other reference of the minute in question. Such minutes are in this Rule referred to as "Reserved Minutes".~~

~~15.2~~ **Notice of Reserved Minutes**

~~The Democratic Services Manager shall not later than 12 noon on the day of any Council meeting notify the Leader and any relevant Chairmen (or in their absence the member acting) together with one nominated representative from each of the other groups which minutes have been reserved for debate and shall cause a list of the reserved minutes to be printed and placed before all Members at the Council meeting. No discussion shall be permitted on any minute which is not a reserved minute.~~

~~15.3~~ **Adoption of Recommendations of the Cabinet**

~~When at a Council Meeting the agenda item for considering the recommendations of the Cabinet and Committees is reached the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Council (or the members acting in that capacity if they or either of them is absent) shall propose and second the adoption of the recommendations of the Cabinet and Committees. The Chairman shall then put to the vote the adoption of the said recommendations with the exception of the reserved minutes.~~

~~After the vote on the adoption of the recommendations of the Cabinet and Committees have been taken the reserved minutes shall be dealt with.~~

15.4 — Dealing with Reserved Minutes

~~After any debate on a reserved minute the Chairman shall then, if no amendment is made, put to the vote the adoption of the recommendation. The adoption of the recommendation shall in all cases be the substantive motion and any proposed alteration shall be by way of an amendment and be subject to the rules relating to amendments. The right of reply under Rule 19.9 and 19.11 shall be exercised by a member of the Cabinet or Chairman of the Committee whose recommendation is under discussion and that member shall not otherwise speak on the amendment.~~

15.5145.1 Reports from the Overview and Scrutiny Panel

At each of its ordinary meetings, Council will receive a written report introduced by the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel on the work undertaken by the Overview and Scrutiny Panel since the last Council meeting. Such a report will be subject to comment or debate in the usual way.

16.015.0 — Motions On Notice

16.115.1 — Notice

~~Except for motions which can be moved without notice under Rule 17.16, written notice of every motion, signed by at least one member, must be delivered to the Democratic Services Manager / Appropriate Person not later than noon on the Tuesday in the week before the date of the meeting. These will be entered in a book open to public inspection.~~

16.215.2 — Motion set out in agenda

~~Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda in the order in which notice was received, unless the member giving notice states, in writing, that they propose to move it to a later meeting or withdraw it.~~

16.315.3 — Putting the Motion at the Meeting

~~The Member whose name appears first on the Notice will move the motion during his or her speech and call for a seconder. If seconded, a Member from the controlling political group will be entitled to a reply, the motion shall then stand referred without further discussion to the Cabinet or appropriate Committee for determination or report unless the Council decides to debate the motion in accordance with Rule 19.16.~~

16.415.4 — Scope

(a) — Motions must:

- (i) — be about matters for which the Council has a responsibility or which affect the district.
- (ii) — not relate to the ethical conduct of individual Members of Council unless the conduct relates to the Member acting as a member of the Council.

- ~~(iii) be expressed in such a form that it shall conform with the requirements of the Council Procedure Rules and be competent for the Council if it so desires to pass it as a lawful and valid resolution. If it is not so expressed the Chairman shall rule it out of order.~~
- ~~(iii) Where a motion on notice would, if adopted, constitute the exercise of an executive function, that motion must be referred to the Cabinet (or relevant Cabinet portfolio holder as appropriate) for decision;~~
- ~~(iv) The Chairman shall rule out of order any motion on notice that relates to the adoption of, or amendment to, a policy falling within the Council's adopted Policy Framework if that policy or amendment (as the case may be) has not first been proposed by the Cabinet and considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Panel;~~
- ~~(v) The Chairman shall rule out of order any motion on notice that proposes the adoption of, or amendment to, any policy outside the adopted Policy Framework which by law or this Constitution is the sole responsibility of the Cabinet;~~
- ~~(vi) Any motion on notice that proposes the adoption of a policy or the taking of a decision where Council has not received a report from the officers setting out the technical, legal and financial implications of adopting the policy or taking the decision in question shall only be debated. Following the conclusion of the debate, the only action that may be taken is to refer the motion to Cabinet for consideration.~~
- ~~(a) No Member shall subscribe to more than two notices of motion on an agenda at the same time.~~
- ~~(c) Motions submitted to Committees must be in the name of a member of the Committee.~~

~~16.5~~15.5 **Rejecting Motions on Notice**

The Chairman of Council may rule out of order Motions on Notice that in his opinion:

- ~~a) are defamatory in nature;~~
- ~~b) are frivolous in nature; or~~
- ~~c) contain offensive language.~~

~~17.0~~16.0 **Motions Without Notice Rules of debate**

16.1 **Motions Without Notice**

The following motions may be moved without notice:

- (a) to appoint a Chairman of the meeting at which the motion is moved;
- (b) to change the order of business in the agenda;
- (c) to refer something to an appropriate body or individual;

- (d) to appoint a Committee or member arising from an item on the summons for the meeting;
- (e) to receive reports or adoption or rejection of recommendations of Committees or officers and any resolutions following from them;
- (f) to withdraw a motion;
- (g) to amend a motion;
- (h) to proceed to the next business;
- (i) that the question be now put;
- (j) to adjourn a debate;
- (k) to adjourn a meeting;
- (l) that the meeting continue beyond 3 ½ hours in duration;
- (m) to suspend a particular Council procedure rule;
- (n) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information Rules;
- (o) to not hear further a member named under Rule ~~27.3~~24.3 or to exclude them from the meeting under Rule ~~27.4~~24.4; and
- (p) to give the consent of the Council where its consent is required by this Constitution.

~~18.0~~ — Motions Affecting Persons Employed by the Council

~~If any question arises at a meeting of the Council as to the appointment, promotion, dismissal, salary, superannuation or conditions of service, or as to the conduct of any person employed by the Council, the Council shall:~~

- ~~(a) Consider whether to exclude the public for the debate on the particular item on the ground that exempt information under paragraph 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 is likely to be disclosed.~~
- ~~(b) If it considers the matter should be taken in private, pass the appropriate resolution in the form set out in Rule 17(e) (with a reference to paragraph 1 of the said Schedule 12A) to exclude the public; and~~
- ~~(c) Debate the item at the end of the meeting, together with any other items containing exempt or confidential information after the public have been excluded.~~

~~19.0~~ — Rules of Debate

~~19.1~~16.2 No speeches until motion seconded

No further debate shall take place after the mover has moved a proposal and spoken on the item until the motion has been seconded. This rule shall not apply to the Standards Committee or Licensing Board.

~~19.2~~16.3 Right to require motion in writing

Unless notice of the motion has already been given, the Chairman may require it to be written down and handed to him/her before it is discussed.

~~19.3~~16.4 Seconded's speech

When seconding a motion or amendment, a member may reserve their speech until later in the debate.

19-416.5 Content and length of speeches

Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to a personal explanation or point of order. Speeches made by the Leader, members of the Cabinet and Chairmen of Committees when presenting items or by a member winding up the debate may not exceed five minutes without the consent of the Chairman. No other speech may exceed three minutes without the consent of the Chairman. This rule shall not apply to the Standards Committee or Licensing Board or the Non-Executive Functions Committee (when it is dealing with appeals).

19-516.6 When a member may speak again

A member who has spoken on a motion shall not speak again without the consent of the Chairman whilst it is the subject of debate, except:

- (a) to speak once on an amendment moved by another member;
- (b) to move a further amendment if the motion has been amended since he/she last spoke;
- (c) if his/her first speech was on an amendment moved by another member, to speak on the main issue (whether or not the amendment on which he/she spoke was carried);
- (d) in exercise of a right of reply;
- (e) on a point of order; and
- (f) by way of personal explanation.

19-616.7 Amendments to motions

- (a) An amendment to a motion must be relevant to the motion and will either be:
 - (i) to refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual for consideration or reconsideration;
 - (ii) to leave out words;
 - (iii) to leave out words and insert or add others; or
 - (iv) to insert or add words.

as long as the effect of (ii) to (iv) is not to negate the motion.

- (b) Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time. No further amendment may be moved until the amendment under discussion has been disposed of.
- (c) If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original motion may be moved.
- (d) If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of the original motion. This becomes the substantive motion to which any further amendments are moved.
- (e) After an amendment has been carried, the Chairman will read out the amended motion before accepting any further amendments, or if there are none, put it to the vote.

19.716.8 Alteration of motion

- (a) A member may alter a motion of which he/she has given notice with the consent of the meeting. The meeting's consent will be signified without discussion.
- (b) A member may alter a motion which he/she has moved without notice with the consent of both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting's consent will be signified without discussion.
- (c) Only alterations which could be made as an amendment may be made.

19.816.9 Withdrawal of motion

A member may withdraw a motion which he/she has moved with the consent of both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting's consent will be signified without discussion. No member may speak on the motion after the mover has asked permission to withdraw it unless permission is refused.

19.916.10 Right of reply

- (a) The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate on the motion, immediately before it is put to the vote.
- (b) If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion has the right of reply at the close of the debate on the amendment, but may not otherwise speak on it.
- (c) The mover of the amendment has no right of reply to the debate on his or her amendment.

19.1016.11 Motions which may be moved during debate

When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved except the following procedural motions:

- (a) to withdraw a motion;
- (b) to amend a motion;
- (c) to proceed to the next business;
- (d) that the question be now put;
- (e) to adjourn a debate;
- (f) to adjourn a meeting;
- (g) that the meeting continue beyond 3 ½ hours in duration;
- (h) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information Rules; and
- (i) to not hear further a member named under Rule 27.3-23.3 or to exclude them from the meeting under Rule 27.4-23.4

19.1116.12 Closure motions

- (a) A member who has not spoken on that item may move, without comment, the following motions at the end of a speech of another member:
 - (i) to proceed to the next business;
 - (ii) that the question be now put;
 - (iii) to adjourn a debate; or
 - (iv) to adjourn a meeting.
- (b) If a motion to proceed to next business is seconded and the Chairman thinks the item has been sufficiently discussed, he/she will give the mover of the original motion a right of reply and then put the procedural motion to the vote.

- (c) If a motion that the question be now put is seconded and the Chairman thinks the item has been sufficiently discussed, he/she will put the procedural motion to the vote.

If it is passed he/she will give the mover of the original motion a right of reply before putting his/her motion to the vote.

- (d) If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is seconded and the Chairman thinks the item has not been sufficiently discussed and cannot reasonably be so discussed on that occasion, he/she will put the procedural motion to the vote without giving the mover of the original motion the right of reply.

19.1216.13 Point of order

A member may raise a point of order at any time. The Chairman will hear them immediately. A point of order may only relate to an alleged breach of these Council Rules of Procedure or the law. The member must indicate the rule or law and the way in which he/she considers it has been broken. The ruling of the Chairman on the matter will be final.

19.1316.14 Personal explanation

A member may make a personal explanation at any time. A personal explanation may only relate to some material part of an earlier speech by the member which may appear to have been misunderstood or the correction of a erroneous reference to him/her in the present debate. The ruling of the Chairman on the admissibility of a personal explanation will be final.

20.0—Previous Decisions and Motions

20.116.15 Motion to rescind a previous decision

A motion or amendment to rescind a decision made at a meeting of Council within the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion is signed by more than 50% of the membership. This Rule shall not apply to motions moved following a recommendation to the Council made by the Cabinet or a Committee.

20.216.16 Motion similar to one previously rejected

A motion or amendment in similar terms to one that has been rejected at a meeting of Council in the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion or amendment is signed by more than 50% of the membership or supported by the Chairman (or in his/her absence the Vice-Chairman). Once the motion or amendment is dealt with, no one can propose a similar motion or amendment for six months.

21.017.0 Voting

21.117.1 Majority

Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by a simple majority of those members voting and present in the room at the time the question was put. No Member may cast a vote for another Member who is not present at the time the question is put.

21.217.2 Chairman's casting vote

If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Chairman will have a second or casting vote. There will be no restriction on how the Chairman chooses to exercise a casting vote.

21.317.3 Show of hands

Unless a recorded vote is demanded under Rule 21.417.4 or required under Rule 21.617.6, the Chairman will take the vote by show of hands (and a count if requested), or by means of an electronic voting system, or if there is no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting.

21.417.4 Recorded vote

If a majority of members present at the meeting demand it before the vote is taken, the names for and against the motion or amendment or abstaining from voting will be taken down in writing and entered into the minutes.

21.517.5 Right to require individual vote to be recorded

Where any member requests it immediately after the vote is taken, their vote will be so recorded in the minutes to show whether they voted for or against the motion or abstained from voting.

21.617.6 Recorded votes at Council budget decision meetings

A recorded vote will be required at a meeting of the Council on motions, amendments or substantive motions relating to the approval of the budget or setting of council tax, whereby there shall be recorded in the minutes the names of the Members who cast a vote for the motion/amendment or against the motion/amendment or who abstained from voting. As this is a mandatory standing order under the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) Regulations 2001, it cannot be suspended under Council Procedure 29.1.

21.717.7 Voting on appointments

If there are more than two people nominated for any position to be filled and there is not a clear majority of votes in favour of one person, then the name of the person with the least number of votes will be taken off the list and a new vote taken. The process will continue until there is a majority of votes for one person.

22.018.0 Minutes

22.118.1 Signing the minutes

The Chairman will sign the minutes of the proceedings at the next suitable meeting. The Chairman will move that the minutes of the previous meeting be signed as a correct record.

22.218.2 Accuracy of minutes

The only part of the minutes that can be discussed is their accuracy, provided that any question of their accuracy has been raised by motion of which 24 hours' notice has been given to the Democratic Services Manager. ~~Such notice shall only be required when a copy of the Minutes has been circulated to each Member of the Council. If no such question is raised or if it is raised then as soon as it has been disposed of the Chairman shall sign the Minutes.~~

22.318.3 No requirement to sign minutes of previous meeting at extraordinary meeting

~~Where in relation to any meeting, the next meeting for the purpose of signing the minutes is a meeting called under paragraph 3 of schedule 12 to the Local Government Act 1972 (an Extraordinary Meeting), then the next following meeting (being a meeting called otherwise than under that paragraph) will be treated as a suitable meeting for the purposes of paragraph 41(1) and (2) of schedule 12 relating to signing of minutes. Minutes will only be signed at the Council meeting or at Ordinary Meetings.~~

22.4 Form of minutes

~~Minutes will contain all motions and amendments in the exact form and order the Chairman put them.~~

23.019.0 Record of Attendance

All members present during the whole or part of a meeting must sign their names on the attendance sheets before the conclusion of every meeting to assist with the record of attendance.

24.0—20.0 Attendance at Meetings

24.120.1 General

Any Member of the Council who is not a member of the body in question may nevertheless attend any meeting of the Cabinet or of any Committee, Sub-Committee or Working Party. He/she may speak once only on any item if permission has been given by the Cabinet, Committee, Sub-Committee or Working Party before the commencement of debate on the item. The member shall not occupy a seat provided for members of the body in question until requested to do so by the person Chairing the meeting. The member may speak on one additional occasion on a point of order or by way of personal explanation.

This Rule shall not apply to the following bodies:-

- Management Appraisal Board (when acting)
- Licensing Board
- Appeals Panel

24.220.2 Attending meetings when Motions under Rule ~~16.3~~ 15.3 will be discussed

A Member of the Council in whose name a motion under Rule ~~16.3~~ 15.3 has been referred by Council to another Committee shall have notice of the meeting of the Committee, Sub-Committee or Working Party at which it is proposed to consider the motion and he/she, or in his/her absence his/her seconder, shall have the opportunity of speaking to explain the motion and taking part in the debate.

24.320.3 Attendance of Chairmen/Vice-Chairmen of Committees

The Chairman, or in his/her absence, the Vice-Chairman, of any Committee, may invite the Chairman, or in his/her absence the Vice-Chairman, of any other Committee of the Council to attend the meeting and take part in the debate when matters directly affecting the work of that other Committee are being discussed, provided that they shall have no voting rights.

24.420.4 Meetings of the Cabinet

This Rule shall also apply to meetings of the Cabinet and the Leader shall have a similar power to invite attendance at meetings of the Cabinet.

25.021.0 Special Meetings of Committees

Subject to the provisions of Rules ~~76~~ and ~~20?~~:

25.121.1 Calling special meetings

Those listed below may call a special meeting of a Committee on any occasion in addition to ordinary meetings:

- (i) the Chairman (or in his or her absence the Vice-Chairman) of a Committee;
- (ii) the Chairman of the Council;
- (iii) the Chief Executive
- (iv) the Democratic Services Manager; and
- (v) any five members of the Committee (or at least one third of the number of members of the Committee if that is less than five) if they have signed a requisition presented to the Democratic Services Manager (the time and date (provided it is within 14 days of the receipt of the request) and the place of the meeting to be decided by the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Committee).

25.221.2 Business

No matter shall be dealt with at any special meeting of a Committee other than that specified in the request or requests received under Rule ~~25.1~~ 21.1 for the meeting in question, except in accordance with Section 100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

25.321.3 Timing

Special meetings shall be held on such dates and at such times as the proper officer may determine after consultation with the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Committee.

26.022.0 Exclusion of Public

Members of the public and press may only be excluded either in accordance with the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution or Rule ~~2824~~ (Disturbance by Public).

27.023.0 Members' Conduct

27.123.1 Standing to speak

When a member speaks at full Council they must stand and address the meeting through the Chairman. If more than one member stands, the Chairman will ask one to speak and the others must sit. Other members must remain seated whilst a member is speaking unless they wish to make a point of order or a point of personal explanation. However, if a Member is unable to stand through illness or disability, the Chairman will ensure that they are given full and equal access to participation and debate.

27.223.2 Chairman standing

When the Chairman stands during a debate, any member speaking at the time must stop and sit down. The meeting must be silent.

27-323.3 Member not to be heard further

If a member persistently disregards the ruling of the Chairman by behaving improperly or offensively or deliberately obstructs business, the Chairman may move that the member be not heard further. If seconded, the motion will be voted on without discussion.

27-423.4 Member to leave the meeting

If the member continues to behave improperly after such a motion is carried, the Chairman may move that either the member leaves the meeting or that the meeting is adjourned for a specified period. If seconded, the motion will be voted on without discussion.

27-523.5 General disturbance

If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the Chairman may adjourn the meeting for as long as he/she thinks necessary.

28-024.0 Disturbance by Public

28-124.1 Removal of member of the public

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Chairman will warn the person concerned. If they continue to interrupt, the Chairman will order their removal from the meeting room.

28-224.2 Clearance of part of meeting room

If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the Chairman may call for that part to be cleared.

29-025.0 Suspension and Amendment of Council Procedure Rules

29-125.1 Suspension

All of these Council Rules of Procedure except Rule ~~21-617.6~~, ~~21-7-17.7~~ and ~~22-2-18.2~~ may be suspended by motion on notice or without notice if at least one half of the whole number of members of the Council are present. Suspension can only be for the duration of the meeting.

29-225.2 Amendment

Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Council Rules of Procedure will, when proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next ordinary meeting of the Council.

30-026.0 Application to Committees and Sub-Committees

Unless otherwise stated in these Rules, all of the Council Rules of Procedure apply to meetings of full Council and Rules ~~2-42.6~~, ~~43~~, ~~7-116-10~~, ~~1413~~, ~~16-28-15-24~~ (but not ~~22-2~~

~~18.2 or 27.123.1)~~ and Rules ~~3026, 34-29~~ and ~~3530~~ apply to meetings of Committees and Sub-Committees. None of the Rules apply to meetings of the Cabinet except for Rules ~~2420, 27.3-27.523.3-23.5, 2824, 34-29~~ and ~~3530~~.

~~31-027.0~~ Members' Correspondence

All correspondence from Members to persons or bodies outside of the Council shall be endorsed with the following wording (unless otherwise agreed by or on behalf of the Council):-

This letter is the personal responsibility of the writer; it has not been authorised by the Council and so nothing in this letter shall be taken as creating any legal or other obligation on the part of the Council.

~~32-028.0~~ Urgent Action by or on Behalf of Committees/Boards

- (1) If urgent action, which cannot await the next scheduled meeting, is necessary, such action may be taken by the Chief Executive or a Corporate Director or a Head of Service after consultation with the Chairman of the Committee, Board or relevant body holding the delegated power. The action and the reason for it will be reported in writing to the next meeting of the Committee or Board, etc. In addition such action will be reported on the TDC News unless it is the opinion of the relevant officer that to do so would be prejudicial to the interests of the Council and in that event an explanation of that opinion shall be reported to the appropriate Committee/Board, etc. The Democratic Services Manager shall keep a register of all such decisions and reasons which shall be open to inspection by Council Members during normal office hours.
- (2) In the absence of the Chairman the Vice-Chairman shall be authorised to act in his/her place.
- (3) The Democratic Services Manager shall ensure that a copy of every decision taken under this Rule is sent as soon as possible to the Chairman of each of the Council's Scrutiny Panels.

Comment [AH1]: Potential for amendment to delegation for Chief Executive

~~33.0-Declarations of Interest~~

~~33.1 A Member with a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or a Significant Interest in a matter to be considered, or being considered at a meeting must:~~

- ~~(a) disclose the interest; and~~
- ~~(a) explain the nature of that interest at the commencement of that consideration or when the interest becomes apparent (subject to CPR 33.2 of this Standing Order); and unless he/she has been granted a dispensation;~~
- ~~(b) not participate in any discussion of, or vote taken on, the matter at the meeting; and~~
- ~~(c) withdraw from the meeting room whenever it becomes apparent that the business is being considered; and~~
- ~~(d) not seek improperly to influence a decision about that business.~~

~~33.2 When a Member has a disclosable pecuniary interest which the Monitoring Officer has agreed is also a sensitive issue then notwithstanding the requirements of CPR 33.1 (b) above the Member need only declare the existence of such an interest.~~

~~33.3 A Member with a Significant Interest, may attend a meeting but only for the purpose of making representations, answering questions or giving evidence relating to the business, provided that the public are also allowed to attend the meeting for the same purpose, whether under a statutory right or otherwise. The Member will withdraw from the meeting room immediately after making representations, answering questions or giving evidence.~~

~~33.4 Where a Member with a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or a Significant Interest in a matter under discussion (unless a dispensation has been granted in accordance with paragraph 1 of this Procedure Rule), chooses to participate in the discussion and vote, the Chairman will refuse to count the 'vote' of the Member concerned, for the 'vote' will have been cast illegally and cannot be considered to be a vote at all. The Chairman may apply the rules in Council Procedure Rules 27.3 and 27.4 relating to the 'improper obstruction of business'.~~

~~33.5 The Chairman may request that a Member declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or a Significant Interest and, if appropriate, leave the meeting room, should he/she have reason to believe that the provisions of the Code of Conduct and/or this Procedure Rule are being breached.~~

34.029.0 Use of mobile telephones during public meetings

~~34.129.1~~ Council Members, Officers and accredited journalists and members of the public must ensure that their mobile communications devices are switched to silent during all public meetings of the Council.

35.030.0 Audio and Visual recordings of Council Meetings

~~35.130.1~~ Audio or visual recordings shall be allowed in accordance with the "Protocol for Filming and Recording of Council meetings" which is included in Part 5 of this constitution.

This page is intentionally left blank

THANET DISTRICT COUNCIL DECLARATION OF INTEREST FORM

Do I have a personal interest?

You have a **personal interest** in any business of your authority where it relates to or is likely to affect:

- a) An interest you must **register**.
- b) An interest that is not on your register, but where the well-being or financial position or you, members of your family (spouse; partner; parents; in laws; step/children; nieces and nephews), or people with whom you have a close association (friends; colleagues; business associates and social contacts that can be friendly and unfriendly) is likely to be affected by the business of your authority more than it would affect the majority of:
 - Inhabitants of the ward or electoral division affected by the decision (in the case of the authorities with electoral divisions or wards.)
 - Inhabitants of the authority's area (in all other cases)

These two categories of personal interests are explained in this section. If you declare a personal interest you can remain in the meeting, speak and vote on the matter, unless your personal interest is also a prejudicial interest.

Effect of having a personal interest in a matter

You must declare that you have a personal interest, **and the nature of that interest**, before the matter is discussed or as soon as it becomes apparent to you except in limited circumstances. Even if your interest is on the register of interests, you must declare it in the meetings where matters relating to that interest are discussed, unless an exemption applies.

When an exemption may be applied

An exemption applies where your interest arises solely from your Membership of, or position of control or management on:

1. Any other body to which you were appointed or nominated by the authority.
2. Any other body exercising functions of a public nature (e.g. another local authority)

Is my personal interest also a prejudicial interest?

Your personal interest will also be a **prejudicial interest** in a matter if all of the following conditions are met:

- a) The matter does not fall within one of the **exempt categories** of decisions
- b) The matter affects **your financial interests** or relates to a **licensing or regulatory matter**.
- c) A member of public, who knows the relevant facts, would **reasonably think your personal interest is so significant** that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest.

What action do I take if I have a prejudicial interest?

- a) If you have a **prejudicial interest** in a matter being discussed at a meeting, you must declare that you have a prejudicial interest as the nature of that interest becomes apparent to you.
- b) You should then leave the room, **unless members of the public are allowed to make representations, give evidence or answer questions about the matter**, by statutory right or otherwise. If that is case, you can also attend the meeting for that purpose.
- c) However, you must immediately leave the room once you have finished or when the meeting decides that you have finished (if that is earlier). You cannot remain in the public gallery to observe the vote on the matter.

- d) In addition you must not seek to **improperly influence** a decision in which you have a prejudicial interest.

This rule is similar to your general obligation not to use your position as a Member improperly to your or someone else's advantage or disadvantage.

What if I am unsure?

If you are in any doubt, Members are strongly advised to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or the Democratic Services Manager well in advance of the meeting.

DECLARATION OF PERSONAL AND, PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS

MEETING

DATE..... **AGENDA ITEM**

IS YOUR INTEREST:

PERSONAL ☐

PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL ☐

NATURE OF INTEREST:

.....
.....
.....

NAME (PRINT):

SIGNATURE:

Please detach and hand this form to the Committee Clerk when you are asked to declare any interests.